
Meeting of:  Health, Schools and Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Date: Thursday, 25th January, 2018
Time: 6.15 pm.
Venue: Hollingworth - (Room 108B), Training and 

Conference Suite, First Floor, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

3.  URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

4.  ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting. 

5.  MINUTES 3 - 5

To consider the minutes of the meeting of the Health, Schools and 
Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee held 23rd November 2017 

6.  LINK4LIFE MID YEAR REVIEW 2017/18 6 - 23

A review of performance thus far in 2017/18 in respect of the 
Borough’s Cultural and Leisure Trust: Link4Life. 

Public Document Pack



7.  SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND DISABILITY SERVICES 
(SEND) - PRESENTATION 

Presentation on SEND Services by Assistant Directors (Children’s 
Services) 

8.  ADOPTION ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17 24 - 43

The Committee is asked to consider the authority’s Annual Adoption 
Report 2016/17. 

9.  ADULT, CHILDREN & PUBLIC HEALTH DIRECTORATE PLANS 
2017/18 QUARTER 3 PERFORMANCE UPDATE 

44 - 65

A review of performance in the third quarter of 2017/18 (October – 
December):- Children’s Services, Adult Social Care Service and Public 
Health Service. 

10.  SOCIAL CARE COMPLAINTS 66 - 83

A report detailing social care complaints in the 1st & 2nd Quarters of 
2017/18 

Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee Members

Councillor Ali Ahmed Councillor Sultan Ali
Councillor Cecile Biant Councillor John Blundell
Councillor Wendy Cocks Councillor Ray Dutton
Councillor James Gartside Councillor Shaun O'Neill
Councillor Susan Smith Councillor Patricia Sullivan
Councillor Donna Williams

For more information about this meeting, please contact:

Peter Thompson
Committee Services, Floor 2, Number One Riverside,
Smith Street, Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Telephone: 01706 924715
e-mail: peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk 

mailto:peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk


HEALTH, SCHOOLS AND CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Thursday, 23rd November 2017

PRESENT:  Councillor Sara Rowbotham (Chair); Councillors Cecile Biant, 
Blundell, James Gartside, O'Neill, Smith, Sullivan and Williams.

OFFICERS:  D. David (Assistant Director – Commissioning), W. Meston 
(Consultant in Public Health) and M. Garraway (Resources Directorate).

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  Councillor Meredith; Andy Bennett (Strategic 
Director at Child Action North West), Keith Walker (Executive Director of 
Operations – Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust), Jan Reynolds (Head of 
Service – Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust), A. Howarth & J. Szpakowski 
(NHS England); J. Booth & T. Philbin (Rochdale Borough Safeguarding 
Boards).  

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Sultan Ali, Councillor Dutton and 
Councillor Zaheer

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
36 Councillors Cecile Biant and Sara Rowbotham declared personal 
interests in agenda item 8 – Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust Update, as 
Council appointed Members of the Trust Scrutiny Committee.  

MINUTES
37 Decision: That the minutes of the meeting held on 21st September 2017 
be approved as a correct record.

PRESENTATION - YOUNG CARERS
38 Councillor Meredith, Andy Bennett (Strategic Director at Child Action 
North West), along with a young carer from the Borough, attended the 
meeting to inform the Committee of work undertaken and support provided to 
young carers within the Borough by Child Action North West.  

Members questioned the level of monitoring of financial support provided to 
young carers and sought assurances around incidents where that money was 
not being used for the intended purposes.  

Decision: That the presentation be noted.

DIABETIC EYE SCREENING HEYWOOD MIDDLETON AND ROCHDALE
39 The Committee considered a report from Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS 
Trust providing information on the NE Diabetic Eye Screening Programme.  
The Greater Manchester Health & Social Care Partnership is responsible for 
commissioning the service which is provided by Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS 
Trust - for the Bury, Heywood Middleton & Rochdale (HMR) and Oldham CCG 
populations.

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



Following Patient and Public Engagement the programme implemented 
changes to its model of delivery in November 2015 with an increase in its 
screening locations from 6 to 12 with 6 fixed locations and 6 rotational sites. 
Screening uptake increased in the twelve months after the changes but had 
subsequently reduced.

Decision: That the report be noted.

PENNINE CARE NHS FOUNDATION TRUST - UPDATE
40 The Committee received a presentation from the Executive Director of 
Operations and the Head of Service of Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust, 
providing an update on recent changes in Leadership of the Trust, the current 
financial position, improvement strategy and risks, an overview of community 
services and updating on the mental health strategy.  

Members of the Committee sought assurance on the progress of creating 
better links between teams such as community mental health teams and local 
neighbourhood teams to deliver the integration of physical and mental health.  
In consideration of the ability of services to engage with males under 35 years 
old suffering with mental health issues Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust 
undertook to partake in a Task and Finish Group.

The Executive Director of Operations advised of forthcoming operational 
changes which would impact on Rochdale Infirmary including a move to single 
sex wards.  

Decision: That (1) the presentation be noted;
(2) the Committee arrange for a Task & Finish Group to consider mental 
health issues in males under 35 years old;
(3) the Executive Director of Operations and the Head of Service of Pennine 
Care NHS Foundation Trust report to a future meeting on the operational 
impact of moving to single sex wards.

SAFEGUARDING BOARD ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17
41 The Committee scrutinised the Annual report for 2016/17 from the 
Rochdale Borough Safeguarding Children’s Board and the Rochdale Borough 
Safeguarding Adults Board.    The report provided details about current needs 
in the Borough, the availability, quality and effectiveness of services to 
respond to that need, and on the work of the two Boards themselves. 

The Independent Chair of the Boards set out the challenges from 2016/17 
which will continue throughout 2017/18, including widening the use of 
technology to support multi agency work, and improving engagement with 
stakeholders in relation to:

 Financial abuse of venerable adults
 Child Sexual Exploitation
 Domestic abuse
 Dementia abuse

Page 4



Members sought clarity on how well agencies have responded to the 
challenges set in 2016-17 and the risks incorporated within the challenges for 
2017-18. In particular Members requested specific reports on the following be 
included within the work programme for the Committee:

 The effectiveness of the Excellence in Practice Sub-Group 
 The outcomes of the most recent audit into children missing from 

home.
 Analysis of the most recent figures on Child deaths within the Borough. 
 Analysis of Multi Agency Screening Service referrals and a review of 

the effectiveness of the partnership.
 
Decision: That (1) the work programme be updated to include reviews of the 
work areas detailed above;
(2) All Members appointed to this Committee must receive training within 2 
months of appointment on related issues including:

a) Safeguarding;
b) Council & NHS integration;
c) Partnership working in Safeguarding.

MARKET OVERSIGHT REPORT
42 The Committee considered a report of the Assistant Director - Adult 
Care (Commissioning) regarding the Market Oversight Plan which provided 
quality assurance information for services commissioned by the Adult Care 
service for quarter 2 in 2017/18.

The Committee noted that the Adult Care Service was currently on-track with 
all of its current reviews

Decision: That the report be noted.

ADULT, CHILDREN & PUBLIC HEALTH DIRECTORATE PLANS 2017-18 
QUARTER 2 PERFORMANCE UPDATE
43 The Committee considered a report detailing progress at the end of 
Quarters 1 and 2 (1st April – 30th September 2017), towards achievement of 
the targets contained in the Adult Care, Children’s Services and Public Health 
Directorate Plans 2017/18.

Decision: That the report be noted.

GREATER MANCHESTER JOINT HEALTH SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
44 Decision: That the minutes of the Greater Manchester Joint Health 
Scrutiny Committee meetings held on 12th July and 13th September 2017, be 
noted.

Page 5



 

Subject:  Link4Life 6 Month Performance 
Review 2017-18

Status: For Publication

Report to: Health, School and Care Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee

Date: 25th January 2017
 

Report of: Andy King, Chief Executive Link4Life

Author Email: 

Author: Nathan Matley

Tel:

Comments from Statutory 
Officers:

Monitoring Officer:   Yes    
Section 151 Officer: Yes 

Key Decision: 

1 Purpose of Report

1.1 To provide Members of the Committee with information relating to the 
performance of the Rochdale Boroughwide Cultural Trust, trading as Link4Life 1st half 
years performance for 2017-18 (Apr – Sept inc)

2 Recommendations

2.1      It is recommended that Members note the content of this report.

3 Background

3.1 The Council's Sport, Leisure and Cultural Services transferred to the 
Rochdale Borough wide Cultural Trust (trading as Link4Life) on the 1st April 2007 
under the terms of a Partnership Agreement between the Council and the Trust. This 
Agreement spans 15 years (2007 – 2022) with the option to extend for a further 5 
years.

3.2 Link4Life Vision - Link4Life developed a new Corporate Strategy for 2016 
– 19 designed as a two page, outward facing public document that articulates the 
Trust’s strategic vision, key aims and business objectives over the next three years.

3.3 Supplementary to this new strategy is a revised 3 year Corporate Business 
Plan which is primarily an internal document providing further detail in terms of the 
actions and measures designed to address identified challenges and opportunities as 
well as delivering the Trust’s vision, aims and objectives.

3.4 To underpin what the Trust does, Members are also advised that the 
Link4Life Board has approved a refreshed set of Core Values, which outline how the 
Trust will operate. These are outlined below:-

Page 6

Agenda Item 6



We have PRIDE in where we work and what we do:-
Passion, Respect, Integrity, Drive, Excellence

3.5 Those indicators which are measured “per 1,000 population are calculated 
using the 2011 Census figure for the Borough’s population of 212,000”. 

3.6 Detailed information in respect of the full range of performance indicators can 
be found in Appendix 1.

Alternatives considered

3.7 There is the alternative of reporting performance to only the lead officers and 
Portfolio Holder. Reporting to the Scrutiny Committee provides additional assurance 
that it receives value for money in respect of the Contract Fee being paid to the Trust 
for the delivery of services and that those services contribute to the achievement of 
the Council’s corporate aims and objectives.  

3.8 If Link4Life were not to report on performance, it would contravene its 
obligations under Schedule 11 of the Partnership Agreement (‘Governance and 
Monitoring’ arrangements), which requires the Trust to attend Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee meetings and present performance reports “in accordance with the 
Council’s corporate performance management framework as varied from time to 
time”.

4 Revised Performance Framework 

4.1 Since the inception of Link4Life in 2007, the development of its performance 
management framework has been subject to consultation with the council and 
agreement by the Council. The Council and Link4Life completed a joint review of the 
performance indicators and implemented a revised set of indicators for 2017-18 
including an annual corporate health check incorporating previous KPI’s. 

4.2 In 2016-17, the management of the client/contractor relationship between 
Rochdale Borough Council and Link4Life transferred from Finance (Pauline Kane) to 
Public Health. Sue Crutchley oversees the Partnership Agreement on behalf of 
Andrea Fallon (Authorised Officer). Gordon Ridehalgh continues in the role of Client 
Officer. Quarterly meetings are held to review performance by lead Officers and 
further updates are also provided to the Portfolio Holder.

5 Service Updates

5.1 Sport, Leisure & Civic Venues

5.1.1 There are now over 3169 children enrolled on the Link4Life Swim 
Academy (Children’s swimming lessons). This is the highest number of active 
enrollments since the inception of the Trust and numbers are continuing to 
increase across the three swimming pools. The Academy is running at 85% 
capacity.

5.1.2 As part of the Aquatic Strategy a formal review of Swimming Pool’s 
programme  currently being undertaken, and the  Middleton’s Pool programme is in 
the initial stages.  The 1st draft proposed programme, increased public swimming by 
38%, the number for Link4Life Swim Academy lessons by 22 per week and the 

Page 7



capacity of Link4Life School Swimming Lessons by 340 pupils or 10 additional school 
classes.

5.1.3 The development of a 20 bike cycle studio named ‘Studio One’ at Heywood 
Sports Village was completed at the end of September 2017. The development of the 
Studio has provided additional group exercise class provision both in the new studio 
and the existing studio where the bikes were previously located. This will help 
provide an enhanced member experience, with an improved range of classes, 
including virtual cycling classes.

5.1.4 FootGolf is now well established at Marland Golf Course and we have seen 
285 children and 235 adults taking part. The aim is to continue to grow and develop 
the FootGolf offer along with developing the quality and playability of the FootGolf 
course.

5.1.5 The summer holiday Programme at Bowlee Sports Centre was a huge 
success this year, with 100% attendance totaling over 450, with children coming from 
20 different schools from Middleton, Rochdale, Heywood, Manchester and Oldham 
and positive feedback from the children and parents.

5.2 Culture, Health and Participation

The Culture, Health and Participation (CHAP) Service was created last year to bring 
together three of Link4Life’s complimentary and community focused programme 
areas:

Culture (Arts and Heritage)
Health and Wellbeing 
Sports and Physical Activity Community Outreach

5.3 Culture

5.3.1 July and August saw the initial implementation of our Education Review, and 
the completion of major building works at the Museum store and strong attendances 
at our Summer Fun programme.

5.3.2 Highlights from 1st half years performance include:

• New series of adult craft workshops linked to Egyptian show 
• Virtual tour of the store gone live on the website
• Museum team received funding to develop partnerships with 

Manchester Universities (MUPI) 
• Middleton Arena display case updated with a fashion theme.
• Egyptian exhibition launched on 1st June with a family learning day. 

Lots of Egyptian inspired craft activities with over 300 visitors 
attending.

5.4 Health and Wellbeing

5.4.1 The Integrated Neighborhood’s Team is now fully operational in Heywood, 
Pennines & Middleton.

5.4.2 Other achievements this period have included:

Page 8



• 193 participants in Public Health funded Healthy Families programme 
around the Obesity agenda.

• 66 Health MOT’s carried out on RBC employees
• A Memorial Walking Football competition was held at Heywood Sports 

Village on 10th September, won by Wakefield – 12 teams completed 
from across the North West.

• New COPD session introduced at HSV in July & numbers increasing 
weekly

• 37 participants completed Functional Fitness with 30 showing 
improvements in mobility scores.

5.5 Sport and Physical Activity

5.5.1 The Fit, Feed and Read programme was delivered across 10 sites within the 
Borough in partnership RBC Libraries and Foodshare. The programme received 
2000 attendances with children who receive free school meals taking part in Arts 
Workshops in the morning having lunch and finishing with sport and physical activity 
sessions in the afternoon.

5.5.2 #Thrive service in partnership with Pennine Care, Youth in Mind and Link4life 
has recently won an NHS award for Redesign of Care in Mental Health Award. This 
was in recognition of its innovative support for children and young people who require 
emotional health and wellbeing support across the borough of Rochdale.

5.5.3 The ‘Couch 2 5k’ at Kingsway is proving to be very popular, with 91 
participants in week one of the second Couch2 5k session.  A large variety of ages 
and abilities attended with some people running the 5k distance for their 1st time ever.

5.5.4 The Big Games series of 5 events as part of L4L London 2012 legacy was 
delivered at Marland Golf Course, Middleton Arena, Heywood Sports Village, 
Litteborough Sports Centre and Rochdale Leisure Centre over the summer months. 
Children and Families took part in free taster sessions of arts and crafts, face 
painting, Punch and Judy, climbing, cycling, swimming, badminton, tennis, football, 
and an inflatable assault course.                                                                  

6 Improving Performance – The following section highlights areas of where the 
targets for 2016-17 are forecast to be met or surpassed

6.1       Sport, Leisure and Civic venues

6.1.1 The total number of swims at Link4Life pools is currently projected to achieve 
the target of 210,000 swims. 

INDICATOR 17-18 Target QTR1 QTR2 TOTAL PROJECTION

Total Number of Swims 210000 53458 59397 112855 

6.1.2 Fitness memberships have been under increasing pressure from external 
budget gyms over the last few years and they continue to impact on our business. 
However, Link4Life take great pride in the performance of the fitness facilities in 

Page 9



relation to the ability to attract new members and to retain them and also in the wide 
offer available across all of our facilities across the borough. Following a detailed and 
planned fitness offer improvement programme, we are beginning to see 
improvements in relation to the number of fitness members at our facilities after a 
recent downturn, which is particularly encouraging, and we are on target to surpass 
the target for this indicator at the end of the year.

INDICATOR 17-18 Target QTR1 QTR2 TOTAL PROJECTION
Total Number of Fitness 

Members 8800 8738 8810 8810 

6.1.3 The YourLink4Life card has continued to be popular with customers. The 
YourLink4life Extra card replaced the previous Passport to Leisure card. 

The use of this card is to discount the costs to Rochdale Borough residents to 
encourage participation to those who are eligible under one of the following 
categories: aged 16-19 and in full-time education or training; Over 60’s; Receiving 
Universal Credit or other means tested benefits including, Disability, Long-Term 
Illness or War Disabled, Receiving Carers Allowance including Fostering or Adoption.

Indicated below is the expectation that this year’s card holder targets will be 
achieved.

INDICATOR 17-18 Target QTR1 QTR2 TOTAL PROJECTION
YourLink4Life Extra 

Card Holders 3800 4468 4778 4778 

The overall aim of the card is to widen access and participation across the borough 
with the goal of reducing health inequalities. The increased insight and data the card 
provides, has shown that 26.16% of card holders are from the 10% or less SOA’s 

6.1.4 Through the GoForIt branding, Link4Life continue to deliver and expand their 
junior school holiday programme with just over 13,000 attendances on the school 
holiday programme so far this year which has already achieved the year end target. 
As you expect the majority of attendances has come in the summer holiday period, 
where all sites have seen further growth in numbers attending our holiday 
programmes.

INDICATOR 17-18 Target QTR1 QTR2 TOTAL PROJECTION
School Holiday Programme 

Attendance 11000 702 12375 13077 

6.1.5 Just over 12 months ago, the Swim Academy programme (public swimming 
lessons) changed from 5 x 10 week blocks of lessons to a continuous 50 week 
programme. This was supported by the introduction of new handheld teaching 
devices. Since this change the performance of the Swim Academy has been 
impressive, seeing a substantial increase in the number of children enrolled on the 
programme. 

Page 10



The current position for 2017-18 has been no exception to this trend. There are now 
3169 pupils enrolled. This has increased from 2917 at the end of 2016-17.

INDICATOR 17-18 Target QTR1 QTR2 TOTAL PROJECTION
Total number of juniors 

enrolled on  Link4LifeSwim 
Academy swimming lessons

2900 2972 3169 3169 

6.2 Culture

6.2.1 Whilst the number of visitors to Touchstones may be failing slightly the same 
cannot be said of the level of participation with other aspects of the Culture service. 
In terms of the numbers of people involved in organized projects, it is anticipated that 
both junior and adult targets will be reached this year.

.

INDICATOR 17-18 Target QTR1 QTR2 TOTAL PROJECTION
The number of 

children/young people 
(aged 0 - 25) engaged in 

organised projects or 
activities outside formal 

education

5000 941 2821 3762 

The number of adults 
taking part in organised 

projects/activities
10000 2,115 5,118 7233 

6.2.2 The Cultural Team is doing particularly well in the digitization of the assets 
and artifacts the service looks after. The service is on target to meet and surpass the 
target this year for the number of items that have been documented (digitized).

INDICATOR 17-18 Target QTR1 QTR2 TOTAL PROJECTION
The number of items 

documented 5500 2572 1652 4224 

6.2.3 Touchstones continue to ask visitors to complete customer survey forms and 
customer feedback is a key indicator in relation to satisfaction. For both of the 1st two 
quarters the survey results have surpassed the targets set.

INDICATOR 17-18 Target QTR1 QTR2 TOTAL PROJECTION
Customer survey result –

(Good or Excellent) 80% 88% 85% 86.5% 

6.2.4 Volunteering remains a vital and much appreciated element of the offer at 
Touchstone, giving community members an ideal platform to help with the Arts and 
Heritage services work and projects. The number of active volunteers and the 
number of new volunteers are set to achieve and exceed target this year.

Page 11



INDICATOR 17-18 Target QTR1 QTR2 TOTAL PROJECTION
No of Active Volunteers 

in Culture Service 25 30 41 41 
No of New Volunteers 10 4 5 9 

6.3 Health and Participation

6.3.1 The Health and Participation Team currently deliver over 20 programmes, 
many of them on an ‘outreach’ or community development basis of which most are 
largely dependent on external funding.

As well as the performance targets as shown in the appendix 1 and below, we have 
included in the report a couple of case studies from the many projects we deliver to 
give some insight into the depth and complexities some of the projects reach. (See 
appendix 2 and 3.)

6.3.2 567 outreach sessions were delivered in Quarter 1 and 2 and it is anticipated 
to easily achieve the target of 750 sessions in 2017-18. So far attendance at these 
sessions has far exceeded expectations and the target of 10,000 has already been 
surpassed, which has been aided by the continuation of the Activ8te Me programme. 
Funding has now ended for this scheme, but the scheme was so successful that 
most sessions delivered are now self-sustaining and thus are being continued.

INDICATOR 17-18 Target QTR1 QTR2 TOTAL PROJECTION
Number of Outreach Sessions 

delivered 750 286 281 567 
Attendance at Community 

Outreach sessions (focus on 
participation)

10000 5627 5574 11201 

6.3.3 The Energy Club – the children’s healthy weight project is showing an 
improved start to 2017-18, with mid-year indications revealing  the project is now in 
line to achieve the targets set for 2017-18. The change to allow  self–referrals has 
helped increase numbers and take-up of the scheme.

INDICATOR 17-18 Target QTR1 QTR2 TOTAL PROJECTION
Energy Club (Children’s Healthy 

Weight project)
Number of children aged 4 to 12 

years engaged in programme 120 53 44 97 

6.3.4 The first half of 2017-18 has been very successful for Link4Life’s programme 
of targeted health interventions and activities continues to expand and develop. 636 
have taken part in the scheme and 682 sessions delivered so far this year. The 
success and growth of walking football is one such example of the popular sessions 
being delivered.

Page 12



INDICATOR 17-18 Target QTR1 QTR2 TOTAL PROJECTION
Participation in targeted health 

activities 
(E.g. Stroke, LTC's, Falls etc.)

Unique Users (Participants) on 
health development activities 

sessions
1000 310 326 636 

No. of activity sessions delivered 750 300 382 682 

6.3.5 Link4Life offers a wide range of accessible activities in and out of school time 
and during the school holidays. One of our success stories is Sunsport and the 
disability sports programme which has been delivering high quality activities for over 
13 years. Programmes are tailored to suit the needs of young people offering 
exciting and enjoyable environments with the opportunity to participate develop and 
progress. At the end of Quarter 2 171 children and 591 adults had taken part in the 
programmes.

INDICATOR 17-18 Target QTR1 QTR2 TOTAL PROJECTION

Disability Sports Activities

No. of participants in disability 
sports activities - children 300 85 86 171 

No. of participants in disability 
sports activities   - adults 750 291 300 591 

6.4 Corporate Health and Compliance

6.4.1 Sickness has improved in quarter 2 and predicted year end figures are 
expected to be close to the target of 7.0 days.

INDICATOR 17-18 Target QTR1 QTR2 TOTAL PROJECTION
Average number of days lost 

due to sickness absence 7.00 2.47 1.13 3.60 
The percentage of complaints 

upheld 45.00% 4.50% 57.14% 17.24% 

6.4.2 Link4Life is seeing the overall number of formal complaints fall as customers 
find new methods to communicate and pass feedback, for example via social 
media, and in the first half of the year 29 complaints were received. Of these 
5 were upheld (17.24%).

Link4Life are confident we will achieve our target of less than 45% of all 
complaints being upheld. Link4Life places a high importance in the 
encouragement of feedback from customers and have recently increased the 
visual appearance and availability of comments forms and posters throughout 

Page 13



the centre’s and on the website. Customers can also comment online via the 
RBC feedback system which is passed directly to Link4Life.

6.4.3 Link4Life are looking are new ways to record complaints and customer 
satisfactions. One such method is to closely monitor the reviews from social 
media customer leave.

The average score left by customers on review sites such as Google and 
Facebook, was 4.4 out of 5 at the end of September 2017. 

In the last three months (quarter 2), Link4Life received 216 reviews as 
opposed to 5 formal complaints, hence the new importance of taking reviews 
into the overall picture when measuring customer satisfaction. This is an 
indicator we will consider for future reporting frameworks.

7         Under Performance

7.1 The following section highlights areas of performance where it is projected 
that the 2017-18 targets may not be met and was missing the half-yearly target figure 
by over the 5% allowance. The explanations for this are provided along with action to 
improve the performance over the next monitoring period.

Page 14



7.2 Sport and Leisure

7.2.1 The achievement of pupils attending the Link4Life School swimming 
programme has fallen slightly over the last academic year. As with other similar 
boroughs the number of children achieving KS2 remains less than 50%. The overall 
national average remains at around 50% of primary school children not able to swim 
to standard. This equates to around 1 million children nationally. 

Every effort is being made to improve the performance of school children’s swimming 
standards in the borough. Additional teacher training has been introduced, lesson 
programmes have been revamped and lessons have been changed from 30 mins to 
one hour. 

Another key change this year which has impacted onto our KS” results and been a 
move of programme providers from the Amateur Swimming Association to the Swim 
Teachers Association. Their programme is focused on being competent across a 
range of strokes and also includes water safety, rather than the ability to be able to 
swim one stroke for 25m. We believe the change in programme will ensure pupils are 
stronger swimmers across a greater range of strokes with enhances awareness of 
water safety. Time will tell how effective the change has been, but we are confident in 
making progress.

INDICATOR 17-18 Target QTR1 QTR2 TOTAL PROJECTION
The % of children 

achieving Key Stage 2 
(swim 25m)

46.50% 38.74% 38.74% 38.74% 

7.2.2 At the start of 2017, Link4Life amended and simplified their fitness packages 
and removed the off peak package which was popular with over 60’s. As over 60’s 
are eligible for a Link4Life extra card, many fitness customers aged over 60 
purchased a YourLink4Life extra card, and now have an enhanced fitness package 
that gives access at all times for only a slight change in price. The enhanced 
package however, whilst benefiting our customer greatly as seen more ‘extra’ cards 
bought. As the over 60’s groups is not means tested this has seen the number in 
ownership of extra cards from all areas across the borough increase and not just the 
targeting SOA areas. This has had the effect of reducing the % of cardholders from 
the most deprived SOA’s and has impacted on this indicator.

INDICATOR 17-18 Target QTR1 QTR2 TOTAL PROJECTION
Percentage of Extra 

cardholders from areas  
10% >SOA areas

29.00% 26.10% 26.16% 26.13% 

7.3 Health and Participation

7.3.1 One new indicator which is slightly underperforming is the number of active 
volunteers hours achieved. This indicator is greatly influenced by the number of 
volunteers we have and the number of volunteering hours available. 

Link4Life are continuing to push and progress the recruitment of new volunteers 
especially via our skills for sports training pathways and there is hope our continued 

Page 15



provision of these pathway opportunities will help push this indicator back towards 
target in the next 6 months.

INDICATOR 17-18 Target QTR1 QTR2 TOTAL PROJECTION
Number of active volunteers 

hours achieved 3500 920 615 1535 

7.4 Culture

7.4.1 The 3 indicators within the culture sector that have struggled this year are 
show below.

The number of visitors to Touchstones has fallen over the last few years. This is 
representative of an overall decline in visits to Museums across the UK as report by 
the Department for Culture, Media and Sport who revealed that there was a 
1.4million drop in visits annually which included a significant drop in the number of 
young people visiting these museums for educational purposes. 

However, this has not stopped Link4Life with planning ahead to address the reducing 
attendances and a new programming and events post has been created to review 
the current programme and look at ways of enhancing the service to increase visitor 
numbers. Link4Life are also working towards increasing the number of events held at 
the museum including opening the museum for Friday night events.

Engagement with the service outside of Touchstones is rapidly increasing and 
expanding and it is likely to continue to do so as the service expand the service 
across the borough and outside the limitations of Touchstones geographically.

Pupil numbers and engagement have also being falling over the last few years and 
Link4Life and Touchstones have completed a full review and revision of the current 
education offer to ensure that their future education offer is relevant to today’s 
curriculum and needs to schools and teachers. We are hopeful of a recovery and 
growth in this area.

INDICATOR 17-18 Target QTR1 QTR2 TOTAL PROJECTION
No of visitors to Touchstones 

Rochdale 50000 9,496 10,257 19753 
The number of pupils visiting 

Touchstones Rochdale 7000 1955 483 2438 
The number of school children 

using the service outside of 
Touchstones Rochdale

10000 1741 659 2400 

8         Customer Feedback 

8.1 Complaints and Compliments

8.1.1 Link4Life received 29 complaints during this reporting period. 5 of the 
complaints received were upheld. All feedback is reviewed frequently and trends and 

Page 16



patterns emerging are closely monitored. There were no significant trends occurring 
during this period and the there was an improving trend in relation to the percentage 
of upload complaints compared with 2016-17.

 QTR 1 QTR 2 TOTAL
COMPLAINTS 22 7 29

COMPAINTS UPHELD 1 4 18
4.55% 57.14% 17.24%

8.1.2 The 29 complaints in this period put into the context of visitor numbers 
equates to: One Complaint  per 33,039 visits.

9 Summary of Performance

9.1 At of the end of Quarter 2 2017-18 of the 47 indicators with quarterly targets 
set, Link4Life was on track to achieve 76.6% of these by the end of the year with a 
further 10.64 % expected to be within 5% or less to the target. (15 targets are not 
measured mid-year due the indicators being an annual or year-end measure.)

9.2 12.76% (6 indicators) are forecast to fall short of the targets set at year end.

On Target Within 5% 95% or below

  
Corporate Health and 

Compliance 2 1 0
Financial 0 0 0

Sport and Leisure 7 3 2
Culture 7 1 3

Health and Participation 20 0 1
36 5 6

Link4Life 76.60% 10.64% 12.76%

10 Financial Implications

10.1 The Partnership Agreement between the Council and the Trust includes a 
Payment Mechanism with a formula, which provides for deductions from the agreed 
Contract Fee in the event of non-performance by the Trust.

11 Legal Implications

11.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from this report.

Page 17



12 Personnel Implications

12.1 There are no personnel implications arising from this report.

13 Corporate Priorities

13.1 Link4Life is a member of the Public Service Reform (PSR) Board working in 
close partnership with theme leads to contribute to the programme’s 5 priorities - 
‘Early Years’, ‘Health & Social Care’, ‘Stronger Families’, ‘Transforming Justice’ and 
‘Work & Skills’. In addition, the Trust is also represented on the Children and Young 
People’s Partnership and the Rochdale Borough Safeguarding Boards and has 
engaged with the development of the Rochdale Borough Locality Plan and the 
development of Greater Manchester work to increase levels of physical activity and 
sport.

14 Risk Assessment Implications 

14.1 There are no specific risk issues for Members to consider arising from this 
report.

15 Equalities Impacts

15.1 Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment

There are no workforce equality issues arising from this report.

15.2 Equality/Community Impact Assessments

There are no equality/community issues arising from this report. Link4Life is 
committed to working in accordance with Rochdale Council’s Equality and Diversity 
Policy and believes that the services it delivers have a positive impact in addressing 
health inequalities and promoting the health and wellbeing of people who live, work 
and visit the borough

Background Papers
Document Place of Inspection
‘Overview and Scrutiny Committee - 
2017/18’ file

Link4Life Head Office, Floor 3, Number One 
Riverside, Smith Street, Rochdale 
OL16 1ZZ

Page 18



LINK4LIFE PERFORMANCE MONITORING

COPORATE HEALTH AND COMPLIANCE

CHC1 The percentage of complaints upheld QUARTERLY 4.50% 57.14% 45.00% J

CHC2 Average number of days lost due to sickness absence QUARTERLY 2.47 1.13 7 K

CHC3 Percentage of staff recommending Link4Life as a place to work ANNUAL n/a 70.23% 70.00% J

CHC4 Completion of Annual Health Check ANNUAL n/a To Complete

FINANCIAL -VALUE FOR MONEY (ANNUAL INDICATORS)

FIN1 Sport, Leisure & Civic venues - net cost per person (visit) ANNUAL n/a n/a £0.19

FIN2 Arts and Heritage - net cost per person (visit) (revised formula - included activities outside Touchstones) ANNUAL n/a n/a £11.00

FIN4 Total External Funding (restricted) as a % of management fee ANNUAL n/a n/a 39%

FIN5 % of management fee income over total revenue ANNUAL n/a n/a 30.60%

FIN6 Subsidy per Extra Card Holder ANNUAL n/a n/a £80.00

SPORT, LEISURE, ENTERTAINMENT

SAL1 Total number of visits to Sport, Leisure and Entertainment Venues QUARTERLY 461682 484532 2000000 K

SAL2 Total number of juniors enrolled on  Link4LifeSwim Academy swimming lessons QUARTERLY 2972 3169 2900 J

SAL3 Total Number of Swims QUARTERLY 53458 59397 210000 J

SAL4 The % of children achieving Key Stage 2 (swim 25m) ANNUAL 38.74% 38.74% 46.50% L

SAL7 Total Number of Fitness Members QUARTERLY 8738 8810 8800 J

SAL8 % of Fitness members visiting in last three months QUARTERLY 68.28% 75.05% 70% J

SAL9 Rate of fitness membership attrition QUARTERLY 4.27% 4.13% 4.00% K

SAL11 YourLink4Life Extra Card Holders QUARTERLY 4468 4778 3800 J

SAL12 Percentage of Extra cardholders from areas  10% >SOA areas QUARTERLY 26.10% 26.16% 29% L

SAL18 Customer survey result – satisfaction rating (Customer rating the level of satisfaction as Good or Excellent) ANNUAL n/a n/a 80%

SAL19 Customer Satisfaction - net promoter score ANNUAL n/a n/a 35%

SAL20 Active Lives Survey Sport England  % of population who are classified as inactive  (<30mins per week) ANNUAL n/a n/a Decrease

SAL22 Visits - YourLink4Life Extra Card Holders QUARTERLY 59618 67356 160000 J

SAL26 Health Campaigns delivered in the Fitness Centre's QUARTERLY 0 1 4 K

SAL27 School Holiday Programme Attendance QUARTERLY 702 12375 11000 J

P
age 19



CULTURE

AAH1 No of visitors to Touchstones Rochdale QUARTERLY 9,496 10,257 50000 L

AAH4 The number of pupils visiting Touchstones Rochdale QUARTERLY 1955 483 7000 L

AAH5 The number of school children using the service outside of Touchstones Rochdale QUARTERLY 1741 659 10000 L

AAH6 The number of children/young people (aged 0 - 25) engaged in organised projects or activities outside formal education QUARTERLY 941 2821 5000 J

AAH7 The number of adults taking part in organised projects/activities QUARTERLY 2,115 5,118 10000 J

AAH8 The number of items documented QUARTERLY 2572 1652 5500 J

AAH9 Net Promoter Score ANNUAL n/a n/a 20%

AAH11 Customer survey result – satisfaction rating (Customer rating the level of satisfaction as Good or Excellent) QUARTERLY 88% 85% 80% J

AAH12 Visit England Quality Mark Achievement ANNUAL n/a n/a Score to achieve - 86% J

AAH13 No of Active Volunteers in Culture Service QUARTERLY 30 41 25 J

AAH14 No of New Volunteers QUARTERLY 4 5 10 J

AAH15 No of Volunteer Hours QUARTERLY 400.25 541.25 2000 K

AAH16 Number of schools using the actively engaging with the service ANNUAL n/a n/a 80

HEALTH AND PARTICIPATION

SPA1 Number of Outreach Sessions delivered QUARTERLY 286 281 750 J

SPA2 Attendance (Usage)  at Community Outreach sessions (focus on participation) QUARTERLY 5627 5574 10000 J

SPA3 Number of active volunteers QUARTERLY 51 60 60 J

SPA4 Number of active volunteers hours achieved QUARTERLY 920 615 3500 L

SPA5 Unique Users (Participants) on Community Outreach Sessions QUARTERLY 730 872 New

Healthy Workforce Scheme (RMBC)

HWS1 Number of Health MOTs completed QUARTERLY 172 66 500 J

HWS2 Number referred to GP or other health professional following health MOT QUARTERLY 55 20 90 J

HWS3 Number of participants  in sports activities QUARTERLY 159 105 500 J

HWS4 Numbers attending well-being advice sessions QUARTERLY 64 266 450 J

Energy Club (Children’s Healthy Weight project)

EC1 Number of children aged 4 to 12 years engaged in programme QUARTERLY 53 44 120 J

P
age 20



Participation in health development activities (targeted at health conditions e.g. Stroke, LTC's, Falls etc)

ACT1 Unique Users (Participants) on health development actvities sessions QUARTERLY 310 326 1000 J

ACT2 No. of activity sessions delivered QUARTERLY 300 382 750 J

ACT3 Attendance (Usage) on Health Development Actvities sessions QUARTERLY 2880 2455 NEW

Healthy Workforce

HWLB1 Number of new businesses contacted QUARTERLY 5 6 14 J

HWLB2 Number of health related activities delivered by Link4Life in workforce settings QUARTERLY 8 3 20 J

HWLB3 Business signposted to other health agencies for health interventions QUARTERLY 7 10 20 J

Disability Sports Activities

DSA1 No. of participants in disability sports activities - children QUARTERLY 85 86 300 J

DSA2 No. of participants in disability sports activities   - adults QUARTERLY 291 300 750 J

DSA6 Number of Talent ID events held (Schools) QUARTERLY 5 2 12 J

DSA7 Number of School pupils attending talent id events QUARTERLY 240 70 550 J

DSA8 Number of young people joining a sports club QUARTERLY 34 35 110 J

WEMWBS (Measure of Wellbeing- appropriate projects only)

WEM1 % of completing participants achieving 10% increase in wellbeing score QUARTERLY 83.00% 87.00% 80% J

WEM2 % of completing participants setting wellbeing-related goal QUARTERLY 80.00% 85.00% 80% J

P
age 21



Dementia Friendly Swimming 
Aqua Relax Session at Heywood Sports Village 

 

 

Here are some of the members of the Aqua Relax session at Heywood Sports Village. The session 

runs every Tuesday from 3.00 – 4.30, the session welcomes people who are living with dementia and 

or are living with long term health conditions. Aqua Relax takes place in one half of a 25 meter pool 

and is roped off as a private session.  There is a member of staff in the water and a swimming 

instructor at the side of the pool to support the swimmers, with 2 lifeguards patrolling the whole 

pool. After the session we have a cup of tea/coffee and cake and chat about any concerns.  

As you can see it is a friendly supportive session where the aim is to support people living with 

dementia or a long term health condition, to swim safely and independently, have fun and relax.  

Chris came to the session to support his wife Stella and although Stella was a confident swimmer 

Chris was not, he was anxious about how the session would go and the choreography and 

organisation of getting changed. We spoke to Chris and explained exactly what the procedure was 

and helped him with lockers. Kev the swimming teacher was on hand to give Chris some tips and 

over the coming weeks his confidence has grown. Stella loves the water and says that as soon as she 

gets in it makes her feel relaxed and reminds her of when she used to go swimming with her family. 

Stuart commented that as he is a full time care for his wife it was nice to be able to get out and 

socialise with her. He enjoyed the company of the rest of the group and said that it was great 

exercise for him and Joyce. 

Brenda commented that being in the water was so relaxing she said that she feels the day’s stresses 

wash away as she swims.  

The group all say that they really enjoy the session and have made good friends, they commented on 

how clean and accessible the facility is and that the staff are all really helpful, especially the 

receptionist who have taken the time to learn all their names.  

Page 22



 

 

Support - Volunteer - Instructor 
An Amazing Inspirational Journey 

 

Catherine suffers from EDS a hypermobility syndrome, which 
means she often has dislocations of all joints on a regular 
basis, also issues with increased heart rate, temperature 
regulation and a is also wheelchair user. Two years ago 
Catherine along with Elaine Stott the Active4Life coordinator 
at Link4Life, and Catherine’s physiotherapist put together an 
exercise programme and a plan to of how best to support 
Catherine in the future. 
 
Catherine firstly completed a functional fitness course to help 
strengthen joints and muscles, and since then has not looked 
back. Following this course, Catherine volunteered to provide 
support for the instructor and other participants on the next 
course Link4Life ran. 
 
During this time of volunteering Catherine also started to 
attend the gentle exercise classes at Rochdale Leisure Centre 
as a participant herself. She found at the class that working 
on the gym balls was something that was massively beneficial 
to her, helping with her cardio work and also core strength, 
but also did not cause her any injuries, and that this would be 
also beneficial to other participants that we worked with in 
our classes. 
 

Catherine completed her Chair Based Exercise training and started to teach a Balance Ball session for us on a 
Monday at Rochdale Leisure Centre. This class has gone on to be very popular and therefore an extra session has 
been established now on a Thursday. The attendees to these classes have various long term conditions, neurological 
problems and in some case quite severe mobility issues, so the class is very beneficial to them and also they get extra 
motivation from Catherine teaching the class. 
 
Catherine is now successfully completed her Level 2 Gym Instructor course and is now on the Level 3 Exercise 
Referral Qualifications. She has passed all her course work with marks at 100% and has been on the cross trainer 
herself in the gym for 2 mins, which 2 years ago I don’t think anyone would have thought would have been possible.  
 
Catherine blogs about her training, her sessions and work with Link4Life and passes this information on through the 
HMSA charity that she helps with, to promote to other people with the same conditions as her that exercise is 
possible. Also to spread the message that there is something out there for everyone, that you just need to find it, 
persevere, and you can do things that you really did think were possible.  
 
Catherine now says that as a result of her exercise programme, her heart rate has lowered meaning less medication, 
she has lost weight, she has stronger muscles which help to support her weak joints better, and best of all, she has 
found a job she loves where she can hopefully help others to find a way to exercise. She adds "none of this would 
have been possible without an amazing team who saw my exercising abilities rather than my disabilities, and 
supported me all the way!".  

She is an inspiration to us all! 

 

 

Page 23



Report to Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting MeetingDateLegal
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Children's Services
Report Author
Public/Private Document

Adoption Annual Report 2016-17

Executive Summary

1. The purpose of this report is to update the Rochdale Council’s Health and 
Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Board on the activity of Rochdale Borough 
Council Adoption Service for the period 2016 – 1017 in accordance with 
statutory requirements.

There is a continued national focus on improving adoption services and in 
particular, ensuring that children’s plans are progressed in a timely and 
effective way.  This includes the development of regional adoption agencies 
as the vehicle for services in the future. 

Rochdale’s Adoption Agency has continued to perform well against the 
Government’s targets as set out in the Adoption Scorecard. 

Key highlights for this year include : 

 Forty-five adoption orders have been granted which was a decrease 
from the previous year’s figure of sixty.  

 Rochdale Adoption Agency continuing to be ranked 3rd nationally for 
the percentage of children exiting care through adoption.

 This is a reduction compared to the number of children adopted in the 
previous year (2015-16) but is reflective of the work undertaken to 
ensure that permanence is achieved in a timely manner, for our cared 
for children, through more effective and timely planning. 

 Rochdale’s performance  in relation to the numbers of Placement 
Orders being granted (the legal authority to place a child  with 
adopters) remains strong  within a national context of fewer Placement 
Orders being granted.

 Details of the adoption scorecard are listed at Section 9 of the Annual 
Report (Page 10 - 15).

 

Page 24

Agenda Item 8



Recommendation

2. Overview and Scrutiny Board members are asked to note the performance of 
Rochdale’s Adoption Agency, as detailed in the Annual Report being 
presented and actions being taken to ensure continued improvement.

Reason for Recommendation

3. The work of Rochdale Adoption Agency is governed by the Adoption and 
Children Act 2002, (revised February 2011) and associated regulations and 
guidance.  The production of an Annual Adoption Report that sets out the 
activity of the service is a statutory requirement. 

Reporting on the activity of the adoption service not only meets this statutory 
requirement but supports elected members fulfil their Corporate Parenting role 
and in particular, provides the opportunity for challenge and scrutiny in this 
area of work.  

Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

Whilst performance of the service remains strong, Members are asked to 
consider the national context in which the service in operating.  Of particular 
note is the requirement for all Local Authorities to become Regional Adoption 
Agencies by 2020, collaborating with other Local Authorities and Voluntary 
Adoption Agencies through formal arrangements to improve efficiency.  

Rochdale Adoption Services formally transferred into Adoption Now in 
November 2017 and subsequent reporting will reflect this change in 
arrangements. 

It is essential that Rochdale’s strong performance is maintained and improved 
during this period of transition. 

Alternatives Considered

The Adoption Service is a statutory function within the Local Authority.  It must 
comply with a range of legislative frameworks, which sets out clear timescales 
and functions for Adoption Agencies.  This includes the recruitment and 
assessment of adopters and the timeliness of finding adoptive placements for 
children and therefore, no alternatives have been considered.
.

Costs and Budget Summary

5.1 Rochdale Budget for the Adoption Service equate to : 
           Staffing budget of £431,531.00 
           Operating budget of £71,917.00
           Admin and Support of £46,000.00
           
           TOTAL  : £549,548.00

Page 25



            
Risk and Policy Implications

There is a potential risk to finances in terms of paying for costly and 
expensive external placements if permanence plans are not secured for 
children through adoption. 

This adoption performance of the Local Authority is inspected by Ofsted, 
during the inspection, the focus is on ‘the effectiveness of Local Authority 
services and arrangements to help and protect children, as well as the 
experiences and progress of looked after children – including adoption’. 

There is a potential risk that during the period of transition, Rochdale’s high 
performance will not be sustained. 

6.

Consultation

7.1

7.2

There is regular consultation between prospective adopters, adopters and 
stakeholders as to the effectiveness of the service.  This has been a key 
influence in service development 

In progressing the RAA, consultation and stakeholder engagement has been 
an integral feature. 

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8.

For Further Information Contact: Adele Ion
Adele.ion@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 26



1 | P a g e

                                                                                                                         

Annual report on the activity of Rochdale Borough Council Adoption Service
01/04/2016 to 31/03/2017

Publication Date  June 2017 

Authorising Officer  

Authorising Signature  

Author of Publication:  Ruth Elsden, Ruth Heyes & Jackie Woodall. 

Posts:  Practice Managers & Performance Improvement Manager

Team:  Adoption Service  

Review Date:  June 2018  

Target Audience: Members, Children’s Service staff, partner agencies and members of the 
public. 

Published by: Children’s Services.

Page 27



2 | P a g e

1.0 Background Information 

1.1 This is an annual report on the performance of Rochdale Adoption Service in line with 
National Minimum Standards and Statutory guidance.

1.2 The work of Rochdale Adoption Agency is governed by the Adoption and Children Act 
2002, revised February 2011) and associated regulations and guidance. The adoption 
service contributes to improving the outcomes of the most vulnerable children in the 
Borough. The key priority is to achieve ‘permanence for cared 4 children’, whose care 
plan is adoption and to ensure that they can be part of a loving, secure and stable 
family.  Where the child requires a placement outside of their birth family, the 
Adoption Agency’s paramount consideration is the child’s welfare, throughout his or 
her life.

1.3 Prior to September 2013,Adoption Services were inspected separately by Ofsted, and 
subsequently from 2013, the Inspection Framework incorporates judgements on 
Adoption services into the overall Ofsted inspection.

1.4 This report provides details of the service activity over the year, 1st April 2016 - 31st 
March 2017 and the plans for development of the adoption service. 

1.5 This report should be read in conjunction with the Annual Statement of Purpose 2017 
- 2018 and the Adoption Panel Chair’s two six monthly reports. The statement of 
purpose sets out the legislative and regulatory context in which Rochdale acts as an 
Adoption Agency and the Chair’s reports set out the Adoption Panel activity.

1.6 During the year the Adoption Agency has continued to build on work to improve 
timescales for children requiring adoptive placements and for the increase in the 
assessment and approval of adopters with significant success. 

1.7 The service was inspected in October 2014 and the outcome for the Adoption Service 
was ‘requires improvement’. Ofsted highlighted;

 ‘Rochdale’s performance on placing children for adoption is above the national 
average’ 

 ‘The proportion of ethnic minority children adopted, at 15% is more than double the  
national average of 7%, demonstrating the good focus on the needs of the group’

 ‘Inspectors met six prospective adopters who spoke highly of the support, advice and 
guidance they had received from the authority and about their experience of applying 
to adopt’

 ‘Adoption support is a strength’

1.8 The working environment for all adoption agencies continues to be a source of both 
significant challenge and reward. Rochdale Borough Council is fully engaged in the 
change agenda for adoption and we have responded robustly to the challenge set by 
central government to increase the effectiveness of adoption services. 

1.9 There are strict national targets for monitoring the performance of Local Authority 
Adoption Services (Adoption Scorecard), in terms of specific timescales relating to the 
child’s journey through care and the speed of matching with adoptive families.

Page 28



3 | P a g e

2.0 Service Overview 

2.1 Rochdale borough council provides a busy and thriving Adoption Service covering the 
following areas of business:

• Finding Families for Children in need of legally permanent placements.

• Recruiting adopters who can offer legal permanence to Rochdale’s children who are 
looked after or children placed from other local authorities. 

• Adoption support services Support services range from financial assistance to 
therapeutic services and support groups.  

• Services for birth parents whose children have been placed for adoption.  
This is required by the Adoption & Children Act 2002, which places on the Local 
Authority a duty to provide a service to all parties affected by adoption. 

• Facilitating contact between birth families and children placed for Adoption where it 
is deemed appropriate. 

• Support in the operation of a ‘Letterbox’ service whereby birth families and 
adopters can exchange letters, photographs etc. with the adoption service acting as an 
intermediary in order that confidentiality can be maintained. 

• Services to adopted adults: the Adoption team undertakes a significant amount of 
work with adopted adults. The law allows any adopted adult over the age of 18 who 
wishes to access their adoption records and/or trace their family of origin.

 Support to relatives of adopted adults: In addition to adopted adults being able 
to access information and request assistance to make mediated contact with their 
family of origin. Birth relatives of children adopted in the past, who may now be 
adults, can approach us for a similar service which is provided by the Adoption Team. 

• Inter country adoption: Families who wish to be assessed to adopt from another 
country are referred to the Intercountry Adoption Centre; the agency has a service 
level agreement with the Intercountry Adoption Centre (IAC) which provides a more 
specialised service to the residents of Rochdale.

• Non-agency adoption. Assessment and preparation of welfare reports for the Court 
in respect of proposed adoption arrangements, which were not made by an Adoption 
agency.

 Support for special guardianship.  The service provides support to families who 
have provided permanence to children through a special guardianship order.  

3.0 Adoption Team Structure 

3.1 The adoption service is comprised of one team .However within the service, there are 
‘specialist hubs’ that reflect the three specialist service delivery areas. These three 
Hubs consist of family finding, recruitment and assessment and post order support.  

Page 29



4 | P a g e

3.2 Within the adoption team there are two practice managers. One practice manager has 
line management responsibility for the recruitment and assessment of prospective 
adoptive families and acts as Panel advisor and the other practice manager has line 
management responsibility for the family finding team and the post order support 
team. 

3.3 The recruitment and assessment hub consists of four social workers.

3.4 The family finding hub of the service consists of four social workers and the post order 
support hub consists of three social workers (two full time equivalents) and one 
support worker (full time equitant).

3.5 The specialism in the team across three service areas, continues to contribute to the 
increase in effectiveness in each of these areas. However the whole service identity 
has remained intact and there is fluency across the service areas dependent on the 
demand. This ensures that the adoption service can be flexible as the demands in one 
specialist area increases and subsequently, staff can be moved to meet this demand. 
This allows for a more effective and efficient use of staff resources and ensures a 
more effective response to service delivery. 

4.0 The Adoption panel

4.1 Adoption Agency regulations require an Adoption Panel to be established and in line 
with the regulations the Rochdale adoption Panel has an experienced Independent 
Chair. 

4.2 The Rochdale/Oldham Panel has one independently chaired Panel, which considers the 
following:

• Assessments of prospective parents for approval

• The de-registration of approved adoptive parents who no longer wish to 
progress.

• The matching of children to be placed for adoption with approved prospective 
adoptive families.

4.3. The Panel has a steady committed membership that is regularly reviewed, and the 
Panel Chair provides reports to the agency (Appendix 1). 

4.4. During this review period, there has been one new Panel member who has been 
recruited to Panel.  The new Panel member has been afforded a full induction and has 
attended external training for new Panel members and the new Panel process has now 
been well embedded. There has been further changes during this review period with 
regards to processes to bring Rochdale in line with our future Regional Adoption 
Agency partners. The slight changes to the panel process have been embraced by 
panel members and these changes are now established within the panel process and 
procedure.

4.5. During this review period, panel have considered items of business from our partner 
agencies. This has presented a challenge to panel members as all the six partner 

Page 30



5 | P a g e

agencies still have a slight variation in paperwork, particularly with regards to 
matching.  However panel members have worked really hard to overcome this slight 
difference in panel paperwork and the panel’s scrutiny and constructive challenge has 
been appropriate.

4.6 The benefit of using partner agency panels is that there is panel availability across the 
six partner agencies and so this has increased the timeliness of approval and 
matchings. 

4.7 During this reporting period, there has been one new panel member appointment.  
The recruitment of new panel members is ongoing to allow even more flexibility and to 
ensure that the panel remains quorate. There is under representation of men on the 
adoption panel central list and members from different ethnic backgrounds.  However 
as we move into the Regional Adoption Agency the central lists of the partner agencies 
will be available and this may support a more diverse panel membership. 

4.8 The panel chair’s report accurately reflects the activity of the Adoption panel during 
the period of review. The service has had one panel training during this review period 
as per regulations and as we move towards the regional adoption agency the potential 
of more panel training will be available as the partner agencies come together. 

4.9 For more information with regards to panel business and activity please see panel 
chair’s six month report attached.

5.0 The Adoption Recruitment and Assessment Service

5.1 This service undertakes the tasks of recruitment, preparation and support of 
prospective and approved adoptive families.  The first part of the adopter process, 
Stage 1, is adopter led and the second, Stage 2, is agency led.  Both recruitment and 
support services have a strong emphasis on customer service, mutual working 
agreements and a contractual approach to completing assessments in a timely 
manner.

5.2 The target for recruitment activity for the year, in 2016-2017, was to recruit 20 
adoptive families. The number of families recruited during this period was 17.  Moving 
forward, the number of prospective adoptive families coming through the system 
remains buoyant. 

5.3 Whilst this figure may appear low in comparison to the number of children within 
Rochdale requiring adoptive placements, this was a strategic decision due to a number 
of service demands and factors, including meeting the needs of those children already 
placed for adoption were complex issues were a feature and ensuring sufficient 
support was in place to achieve their plan for adoption. The service was confident that 
this was the most appropriate strategy as there was access to external government 
funding for inter-agency placements and thus allowing for reclaim of cost for 
placements made externally. Therefore there was limited risk to Rochdale in terms of 
cost and availability of adopters.

5.4 Subsequently, by setting the target for 20 this meant a safe and manageable number 
of assessments were undertaken balanced with the support offer to adopters being 
met. 29 external placements were made during this period and the service was able to 

Page 31



6 | P a g e

claim back 17 of these placements through the inter-agency grant. Subsequently, the 
service only paid for 11 external placements during this review period.

5.5 Rochdale’s approved prospective adopters were also in high demand from other 
agencies as quite a lot of other agencies had stopped recruiting in the previous review 
period as the number of children available for adoption had decreased significantly. 
This resulted in quite a high demand for Rochdale’s approved adopters from external 
placements.  Subsequently, during this review period Rochdale had 9 external 
placements with our adoptive families.  Of these 9 external placements, 1 was for a 
sibling group of 3 from Staffordshire and 1 was an older sibling group of 2 from South 
Wales. This raised a revenue of £190,000 for the service. 

5.7 The service has had some very positive feedback from both applicants and external 
organisations in terms of customer care and response time and this has led to an 
increased positive reputation of Rochdale Adoption Service.  The service user feedback 
continues to be an important aspect to ensure that we continue to improve service 
quality. So for example, some of the feedback that the service has received via these 
methods of QA, has been ‘from the start the adoption team was a pleasure to work 
with; we were kept upto date and fully informed the whole time’ (source: an approved 
adopter via e-mail), ‘the adoption service staff was professional, approachable and 
very knowledgeable’ (source:  applicant ending Stage 1 process) 

5.8 The service has a commitment to holding monthly information evenings for people 
interested in adoption which are advertised in the local press and on the internet.  
These meetings are held in the evening at Riverside.  The information session, is run 
as a drop in session.  The aim of the sessions, are to give general information about 
Rochdale and adoption.  These meetings have had varying attendance but mostly 
these have been well attended.  However, moving forward, the information sessions 
will become part of the bigger RAA recruitment strategy.

5.8 During 2016-2017, recruitment activity has focused on prospective adopters’ 
applications for all children in Rochdale whose care plan is adoption.  As a result of 
analysis of the trends of the needs of the children that may require or actively require 
adoptive placements this has informed the strategic decision to recruit prospective 
adoptive families that live within a 25 mile radius of the borough.  This strategy 
continues to be successful in recruiting prospective adoptive families that can meet the 
needs of children whose care plan is adoption.

5.9 The target of recruitment for approved adoptive families for 2016 - 2017, was 20 
approved households.  The target was lowered during this review period, as the 
number of children whose care plan was adoption was predicted to be lower than 
previous years.

5.10 During this annual review period Rochdale adoption agency approved 17 prospective 
adoptive families.

5.11 There has been three annual reviews during this review period and two resignations. 
There has also been one de-registration and this was due to practice issues with 
regards to the couple. 

5.12 Of the families that were approved during this review period all were part of a 
partnership and the service did not recruit any single prospective adoptive parents. 

Page 32



7 | P a g e

5.13 Of the fifteen families approved, (excluding two that were foster carers), 5 families 
would consider a sibling group, 6 families would consider a child in the 0-2 age range 
and 4 would consider a child in the 0-5 age range. 

5.14 Of the 17 prospective adopters that were approved, fifteen were from a 
White/European cultural background, one family was dual heritage and one family was 
from an Asian background. 

6.0 Prospective Adopter Timescales 
 
6.1 The service has not managed to meet any of its Stage 1 timescale during this review 

period. This is slightly down on the achievement of the service last year. This has been 
due to an increased delay in the service receiving statutory checks back in a timely 
manner and there has some delay in prospective adopters being able to book adoption 
medicals. As Stage 1 cannot be signed off until all checks have been back this has 
caused the service to go out of Stage 1 timescales. There has also been delay in the 
Stage 1 process for four of the applicants as we have had to under overseas checks 
and this has caused further delay in the two month process. 

 
6.2 The service has also struggled with the loss of the recruitment support worker post 

during this period of time as the service lost its co-ordinated approach to sending and 
co-ordinating these checks in a timely manner. The changes in Business Support did 
impact on some of this delay. However, once the changes in Business Support have 
become more embedded, there is an improvement in this area from April 2017 and as 
a service we are beginning to come back within Stage 1 timescales.

6.3 Of these, seventeen approved families, 7 families were fast tracked to stage 2, as 2 of 
these families were existing foster carers, who wished to adopt the children they had 
placed with them and 5 were second time adopters.

6.4 The timescale for the stage 2 assessment for the 2 foster carers were out of 
timescales, due to delay in the court process for the children they were being matched 
with. 5 of the families were coming back to adoption, having previously adopted, of 
these assessments, one of these assessments were in timescale, two of the 
assessments were out by 1 day and 2 had practice issues that required further 
exploration before being presented to panel.

6.5 Of the ten first time adopter applications received going into the stage 2 assessment, 
3 were in the stage 2 timescale, 1 was out of timescale by a day and 6 were out of 
timescales.  Of the 6 that were out of timescales, 3 were adopter led, two was practice 
led and one was due to a change in worker from agency worker to a permanent 
worker which did cause a slight delay.

6.5 Of the fifteen approved prospective adoptive families, (this is excluding 2 foster carers 
that were matched with the children they were already caring for) during this review 
period, there is only 1 family that have not been either matched or have a match 
identified and this is due to requiring an appropriate cultural match.

6.6 During this review period, the recruitment side of the service was going through a 
period of change, with staff leaving and posts remaining vacant due to the 
forthcoming change with regards to the regional adoption agency.  There was also a 
member of staff on maternity leave.  Whilst these members of staff were replaced by 

Page 33



8 | P a g e

agency social workers, it took some time to locate agency workers who had the 
relevant skills and experience to comply with regulations. Subsequently for the first 
three months of this review period the team was functioning on two social workers 
whilst agency staff were identified.  This factor did impact on the number of 
assessments that the team could undertake during this period of time.  So for 
example, as stated earlier this part of the service consists of 4 full time social workers.  
During this review period, the service was functioning for 8 months on two part time 
permanent worker and the other three social work staff were agency workers. This I 
feel has had a negative impact on the service meeting its stage 2 timescales and the 
service not meeting its target of twenty approved families. 

6.7 This service also undertakes non-agency adoptions.  During this review period the 
service undertook 10 non-agency adoptions.  These are quite time consuming and in 
some cases quite complex, with social workers having to attend court on three 
occasions.  This is quite a high number of non-agency adoptions and this had an 
impact on the social workers time . 

6.8 The preparation training has been reviewed by all the partner agencies in the Regional 
Adoption Agency and the programme has been agreed. This means that there is 
consistent preparation training across the partner agencies and that the programme is 
now updated to include more relevant adoption practice. This is due to be reviewed in 
six months’ time.

6.9 Foster to adopt places a child during the period of temporary local authority care with 
foster carers who intend to adopt allowing for the continuity of care for the child.  A 
foster to adopt placement will only be made where there is clear evidence to the local 
authority that there is very little likelihood that the birth parents can resolve their 
problems or that there are no other family members that can take care of the child.

6.10 During 2016-2017, the foster to adopt service is now established and recruitment of 
prospective adoptive families considering this option is now embedded in all stages of 
the process.

6.11 However, during this period of time there were 2 families that were approved using this 
matching consideration. The main feedback from service users as to why they did not 
consider this option, was mainly because of the added uncertainty that foster to 
adoption placements bring into the family finding arena. For some prospective 
adoptive families, potential adoption through is route is also not appropriate, largely 
due to the fact that they are parents already and the potential impact on the child in 
the family has to be considered. 

7.0 The Family Finding Service  

7.1 The family finding team (FFT) works with children whose care plan is adoption.  This 
part of the service works with children’s social workers to establish precise needs and 
identify possible placements.  The first approach is to identify adoptive parents who 
are approved or being assessed through Rochdale and look to identify matches with 
children in our care.  During the report period the recruitment of prospective adoptive 
parents has remained consistent and so the need to use external placements for our 
children has remained consistently low.  The recruitment strategy has become 
embedded and is regularly reviewed.  Subsequently, the number of Rochdale 

Page 34



9 | P a g e

approved adoptive families has increased there has been a decrease in the 
requirement for external placements.

7.2 During 2016 - 2017, we have welcomed applications from foster carers wanting to 
adopt the child or children placed with them where this had not been the plan at the 
outset of the placement.

7.3 The family finding service have robust strategies in place to ensure that family finding 
activity can meet the needs of the individual child to and progress plans without delay. 

7.4. Family finding approaches include, where the Family Finding Team engage a 
professional photographer to create photo sets and DVDs of the children we are 
looking to place.  Profiles are created for children as part of the family finding strategy 
and these are sent to colleagues throughout the North West and in some cases 
nationally.

7.5 Achieving permanence, for a Rochdale child is uppermost in the agency’s priorities.  
The number of children with an adoption plan made from April 2016 to March 2017 
was fifty-five. This cohort included twelve sibling groups of 2 and 2 sibling groups of 3 
children.  The previous year sixty two children had a plan of adoption.

7.6 During this year forty-five adoption orders have been granted which was a decrease 
from the previous year’s figure of sixty. This is a reduction compared to the number of 
children adopted in the previous year (2015-16) is reflective in part of the work 
undertaken to ensure that permanence is achieved in a timely manner, for our cared 
for children; resulting in more children being progressed through the adoption process 
in 2015-16, which has in turn resulted in there being fewer children placed for 
adoption at any one time.  It also reflects the trend nationally in terms of the lower 
number of children being made subject to placement orders.

7.8 Of the forty-five children placed, fifteen of these were internal matches and thirty were 
external matches. The reasons why children were placed with other adoption agencies 
where because of geographical reasons, ethnicity of the children and older children 
aged 5 and above. 

8.0 Adoption Support Service

8.1 The impact on a child, and their family, of being adopted is life changing and lifelong 
and as such the agency recognises that adopted children need to be able to access 
appropriate and sensitive adoption support at any time in their lives.

 
8.2 There have been forty-eight requests for assessment of post adoption support needs.

8.3 The service had thirty-three Adoption Support Fund applications accepted.  The 
support ranged from Theraplay, Therapeutic camps, DDP and music therapy, amongst 
other support.

8.4 The service supported twenty-one adults with regards to access to their adoption 
records. 

Page 35



10 | P a g e

8.5 The business support service manages around 323 Letterbox exchange arrangements 
annually, the adoption support team, providing support to birth families in providing 
good quality written contact for children placed. 

8.6 Birth parents can access counselling through an independent counselling agency 
Caritas.

8.7 In preparation for the RAA, we are now one of six local authorities delivering a joint 
training programme to approved adopters.  Topics such as parenting a traumatised 
child, explaining to a child they are adopted, Letterbox, life story and matching and 
introductions are covered. 

8.8 Feedback is always sought from participants and they have been very positive about 
the topics offered. The positive feedback from the training is that the facilitators are 
very knowledgeable, the information is very informative and relevant in supporting 
families. The feedback from the training is shared at an annual review between the 6 
local authorities.  Alongside this adopters can access the adopter support group and 
nurture group and there is a young person’s group.

8.9 The Adoption Support Fund was introduced to provide therapeutic support for adopted 
children and families.  In the initial set up of the fund the child had to be legally 
adopted before a family could access support.  This has now been extended so 
families can access support prior to the making of the adoption order once the child is 
placed with them.  The Adoption Support Fund has now introduced a cap of £5000 for 
each child per financial year.  This has had little impact to families at this time but is 
likely to moving forward, particularly with children and families who are accessing 
longer term therapy. 

9.0 Adoption Scorecard

9.1 The Adoption scorecard was first published in November 2012 and introduced a 
number of key indicators to measure local authority performance in relation to 
achieving permanence for cared for children.  These are measured over a 3 year 
average. 

9.2 It has to be noted that there has been a delay this year in publishing the Adoption 
Scorecard and Performance tables due to the recent General Election and therefore 
the data used in this report is local data which has been compared against the most 
recently published national statistics.

Page 36



11 | P a g e

66%2%

27%

3% 2%

White British
Other Ethnicity
Other Mixed
African
Other White Background

Ethnicity of children with an adoption plan as at 31 
March 2017

9.3 The above graph shows two thirds of children placed for adoption at the end of March 
2017 in Rochdale are of a White British background, with the second highest group 
being classified as from an Other Mixed background.  The other remaining groups of 
African, Other Ethnicity and from other White backgrounds are all of a similar size.  
Rochdale’s past performance shows performance to be above the national averages in 
children from BME backgrounds being adopted, for example in 2016 15% of Rochdale 
children adopted was from a BME background compared with 9% nationally.

22

38

28

51

60

45

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Rochdale
SN Ave
Eng Ave

Numbers of Children Adopted

9.4 In 2015-16 Rochdale had the highest number of children adopted with sixty children.  
The overall number of children adopted in 2016-17 was in line with the target set.  
This is a reduction compared to the number of children adopted in the previous year 
(2015-16) is reflective in part of the work undertaken to ensure that permanence is 
achieved in a timely manner, for our cared for children; resulting in more children 
being progressed through the adoption process in 2015-16, which has in turn resulted 
in there being fewer children placed for adoption at any one time.  It also reflects the 

Page 37



12 | P a g e

trend nationally in terms of the lower number of children being made subject to 
placement orders.

15

95

8

4
0 3 1

0-1
1-2
2-3
3-4
5-6
6-7
7-8
8-9

Age at date of Adoption

9.5 The above graph shows how two thirds of our cohorts of children adopted are under 4 
years.  Rochdale is above the national average for children age 5 or over who are 
adopted.  The most recent published scorecard (2013-16) showed Rochdale’s 
performance for children adopted over 5 years at 7% which compares to a national 
average of 5%.

A1 The number of days a child waits to moving in with an adoptive family:

A1.2 The graph below shows by quarter how Rochdale has performed over the last 12 
month period against the A1 key national adoption measure, which has a Government 
Threshold target level of 426 days (14 months).  The graph shows in quarter 1 and 3, 
Rochdale performed better than this threshold level.

360

431

327

451

426 426 426 426
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

Rochdale
Linear (Rochdale)

426

Page 38



13 | P a g e

A1.2 At the end of 2016-17 Rochdale’s average performance across the year was 406 days, 
which is 18 days better than the Government threshold of 426 days.

A1.3 Rochdale’s 3 yearly averages for 2014-17 are higher at 497 days.  Rochdale’s three 
yearly averages are 71 days above the Government threshold and is currently 61 days 
better than the latest published England average of 558 days.  Because this data 
includes children over the last 3 year period there have been a number of historical 
cases that are pulling down the 3 year average.  The graph below shows how 
Rochdale’s performance has been decreasing and how this compares to the 
Government threshold, England average and statistical neighbour averages.

744 709 704 681
572

497

2009-12

2010-13

2011-14

2012-15

2013-2016
0

100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800

Rochdale
Stat Neighbours
England
Govt Thresholds

A1 - Average number of days a child waits from coming into care to 
moving in with adoptive family

A1.4 However, across 2016-17 we saw a much better picture at 406 days which is 19 days 
better than the Government threshold.

A2 Number of days between Placement order and date of matching to adoptive 
family:

A2.1 The graph below shows by quarter how Rochdale has performed over the last 12 
month period against the A2 key national adoption measure, which has a Government 
Threshold target level of 121 days.  The graph shows in quarter 1 of this year 
Rochdale performed better than the threshold level.

Page 39



14 | P a g e

90

134
125

132

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Rochdale
Linear (Rochdale)
Govt Threshold

A2.2 At the end of 2016-17 Rochdale’s average performance across the year was 126 days, 
which is 5 days away from the Government threshold of 121 days.

A2.3 Rochdale’s 3 yearly averages for 2014-17 are higher at 166 days.  Rochdale’s three 
yearly averages are 47 days above the Government threshold and is currently 60 days 
better than the latest published England average of 226 days. The graph below shows 
how Rochdale’s performance has been decreasing since the high in 2011-14 and how 
this compares to the Government threshold, England average and statistical neighbour 
averages.

229
259

294

237
209

165

2009-12 2010-13 2011-14 2012-15 2013-16 2014-17
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Rochdale Stat Neighbours England Govt Thresholds

A2 - Average time between a local authority receiving court 
authority to place a child and the local authority deciding o a 

match to an adoptive family

A3 Timescale between a child entering care starting an adoptive placement

A3.1 The graph below shows by quarter how Rochdale has performed over the last 12 
month period against the A3 key national adoption measure.  The graph shows in 
quarter 1, 3 and 4 of this year Rochdale performed better than the national average of 
55%.  At the end of 2016-17 Rochdale’s overall performance was 75.5%.

Page 40



15 | P a g e

100%

50%

90%
81%

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

55%

A3.2 Rochdale’s three yearly average is 62% which is above the latest published England 
average of 55%. The graph below shows how Rochdale’s performance has been 
increasing since 2012-15 and how this compares to England and statistical neighbour 
averages.  The threshold for this indicator reduced from measuring children who wait 
less than 16 months to 14 months between entering care and moving in with their 
adoptive family, in the financial year 2013-16.  The graph demonstrates how Rochdale 
has been able to improve its timeliness in order to meet this challenging Government 
threshold.

46% 47% 48% 48%

57%
62%

61% 58% 54% 48% 2014-17
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Rochdale
Stat Neighbours
England

A3 - % of children who wait less than 14 months between entering 
care and moving in with their adoptive family

10.0 Complaints

10.1 The service has received four complaints during the review period.  All of the 
complaints that the service has received during this review period have been linked to 
the financial aspect of adoption.  Of the 4 complaints received, three were not upheld 
and one was partially upheld. 

Page 41



16 | P a g e

11.0 Disruptions

11.1 The service has experienced one disruption during this review period.  This was in the 
early part of the placement.  A disruption meeting was held and lessons for the service 
have been identified.

12.0 Commissioned Services

12.1 Inter- country adoption - In April 2014, a regional Service Level Agreement was 
established with the Inter-country adoption agency to manage this aspect of the 
agency responsibility. 

12.2 Birth Parent counselling- Commissioned through Caritas. 

12.3 Concurrency - We have commissioned three placements over two years with Caritas 
and Adoption Matters.  During this review period we have used one placement under 
this contract.

12.4 SafeBase - Jointly commissioned with Bury and Oldham.  We have access to 10 places 
per year.

13.0 Summary 

13.1 The number of children adopted this year, although lower than last year was 45.

13.2 With regards to recruitment and assessment of potential adopters during the last year 
with 17 new adopters being approved.  Whilst this was a decrease in the number of 
adopters approved in the previous year, this has fallen in line with the anticipation of 
less children coming through the system whose care plan is adoption.

13.3 The number of families who are currently being assessed has become to increase 
again and recruitment is becoming more targeted to families who can parent sibling 
groups, older children and children with special needs.

13.4 The culture and ethos of the team has now changed significantly as more internal 
matches are now becoming normal practice, as opposed to buying families from other 
agencies.  This is a cost saving to the authority, but it also means more robust support 
can be offered to families.

13.5 The government’s introduction of the adoption support fund on the 1st May 2015, 
continues to have a positive impact with regards to supporting pre and post adoptive 
placements. 

13.6 The number of children who through the courts are having placement orders granted 
has remained low during this review period.  We therefore anticipate that between 40-
45 children will be adopted within the next period. 

13.7 As a result of the needs and number of children predicated to have a care plan for 
adoption for the period 2016-2017, the service target for the approval of prospective 

Page 42



17 | P a g e

adoptive parents for the next 12 months, is set at 25 families.  However moving 
forward to the Regional adoption agency in October 2017, this target may change as 
we combine with our 6 partner agencies. 

14.0 Service Development

14.1 We feel that this has been another successful year for the service.  Processes, policies 
and practice are now firmly embedded and the service continues to move forward in a 
timely way. 

14.2 The challenge that the service faces during the next review period is the 
implementation of the Regional Adoption Agency, of which Rochdale is a partner.  The 
Regional Adoption Agency (RAA) is due to go ‘live’ in October 2017.

14.3 The Adoption NW Regional Adoption Agency (the RAA) will create a single regional 
service operating across six Local Authorities areas in partnership with Caritas Care 
and Adoption Matters. 

14.4 The RAA will provide a service which has the flexibility and resilience to adapt and 
manage the needs of children for adoptive placements, the supply of adopters to meet 
those needs and which provides placement choice and high quality adoption support 
services.  The RAA will maximise the contribution that adoption can make to achieving 
legal permanence and the best possible outcomes for children by building on partners’ 
individual and collective expertise and strengths. The vision is to “achieve timely 
adoption for each child with an adoption plan, regardless of age, ethnicity, disability or 
sibling status; promote identity and provide lifelong support to everyone involved in 
the adoption”.

14.5 The RAA aims to create a distinct regional agency, focusing on positive approaches to 
permanence; build on existing excellent practice and innovation; drive outstanding 
performance; ensure that the voice of adopted children and of adopters shapes the 
service design and delivery. The RAA will achieve and support as many adoptions as 
possible within the region; maximise flexibility, effectiveness, and efficiency of 
resource use; and ensure the quality and sustainability of adoption services in the sub 
region.

14.6 The RAA’s initial focus will be recruitment, assessment and training of adopters, 
improving family finding and matching, including maximising opportunities through 
concurrent planning and fostering to adopt and developing an improved range of post 
adoption support. 

Ruth Elsden and Ruth Heyes - June 2017 

Page 43



Report to Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting MeetingDateLegal
Portfolio Cabinet Member for Adult 

Care, Cabinet Member for 
Children's Services, 
Cabinet Member for 
Health & Wellbeing

Report Author Ben Jorgensen
Public/Private Document

Adult, Children & Public Health Directorate Plans 2017-18 Quarter 3 
Performance Update

Executive Summary

1. To report progress at the end of Quarter 3 (1st October – 31st December 2017) 
towards achievement of the targets contained in the Adult Care Directorate 
Plan 2017-18, Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2017-18 and Public Health 
Directorate Plan 2017-18.  

Recommendation

2. Members are asked to review the information contained within the report and 
the appendices.

Reason for Recommendation

3.

3.1

The committee previously approved the Directorate Plans for 2017-18 for the 
Adult Care Directorate, Children’s Services Directorate and Public Health 
Directorate.   In accordance with the Council’s performance management 
framework. Progress towards the targets contained in directorate plans are to 
be reported to relevant Overview & Scrutiny Committees at the end of each 
quarter. 

The Quarter 3 progress reports for the Adult Care Directorate, Children’s 
Services Directorate and Public Health Directorate are attached at Appendices 
1, 2 and 3. Actions within each appendix have been colour coded in 
accordance with the following criteria.

Red: Action not fully completed or not on track to be completed by the target 
date 
Amber: Action not fully completed or not on track to be completed by the 
target date due to circumstances outside of the directorate’s control 
Green: Action completed by the target date 
Purple: Action is not yet due for completion but is currently on track

Page 44

Agenda Item 9



The appendices include a commentary against actions that are showing red, 
amber, green or purple

Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

Adult Care Directorate Plan 2017-18 Progress

Performance Overview

77% (20) of the actions included in the Directorate Plan 2017-18 are not yet 
due for completion but are currently on target.  The chart below shows the 
overall performance of the Directorate in meeting its plan targets at the end of 
Quarter 3.

The five completed (Green) actions relate to:
 Implementing the quality assurance framework for service delivery with 

clear standards of service met
 Reviewing the safeguarding module of ALLIS
 Strengthening ‘Making Safeguarding Personal’ with a data set which 

can be used to evidence service user outcomes and system  
compliance

 Implementing the carers strategy and work with the new service offer to 
maximise the number of carers supported

 Reviewing and simplifying unnecessary steps in assessment practice

The one action not fully completed (Amber) relates to:
 Reviewing social work practice governance in the joint Mental Health 

service

Performance Issues
None

Page 45



4.6

4.7

Children’s Services  Directorate Plan 2017-18 Progress

Performance Overview

18% (4) of the actions included in the Directorate Plan 2017-18 are not yet 
due for completion but are currently on target.  The chart below shows the 
overall performance of the Directorate in meeting its plan targets at the end of 
Quarter 3.

The five actions not fully complete (Amber) relates to:
 Deliver the Early Help Strategy - Public Health and Children’s Services 

to develop an action plan to address Childhood Obesity and Dental 
Health issues

 Establish a pre-birth assessment service
 Complete delivery of the SEND Action Plan - Facilitate a Peer 

Challenge from the Regional Improvement Team to measure progress
 Embed the raising Participation Age Plan to improve the engagement 

and participation for 16-18 year olds and ensure the post 16 offer is 
accessible to all.

 Increase Safeguarding Unit oversight and challenge for our most 
vulnerable children.

The one action that will not be complete (Red) relates to:
 Implement the School Improvement Strategy and Early years strategy - 

To have completed consultation and secured draft proposals for the 
introduction of a revised Schools Primary Strategy with effect from April 
2018

Performance Issues
None

Page 46



Public Health  & Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2017-18 Progress

Performance Overview

73% (11) of the actions included in the Directorate Plan 2017-18 are not yet 
due for completion but are currently on target.  The chart below shows the 
overall performance of the Directorate in meeting its plan targets at the end of 
Quarter 3.

The three completed (Green) actions relate to:
 Robust commissioning of key mandated and non-mandated services 
 Reduce hospital admissions in children by developing and 

implementing accident prevention Programme  
 Develop a self-care strategy for Borough, including supporting the 

development of better workplace health.

The one action not fully completed (Amber) relates to:
 Develop a behaviour change programme (cohort specific) as part of the 

Councils wider corporate commitment to changing the conversation 
between citizen and state

Performance Issues
None

Alternatives Considered
None

Costs and Budget Summary

5.   None

Page 47



Risk and Policy Implications

Local authorities have specific duties in respect of children under the 
Children Acts 1989 and 2004. They also have statutory duties under the 
Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 and the associated regulations, being the 
Care Leavers (England) Regulations 2010 in respect of eligible and relevant 
and former relevant children i.e. current and future cohorts of children who 
have left or will leave the local authority’s care.

The nature of services provided to children and families involve managing 
significant levels of risk. High quality early intervention and social care 
services reduce the likelihood of children suffering harm and increase the 
likelihood of children developing into successful adults and achieving and 
succeeding.

The 2010 Equality Act outlines the provisions of the Public Sector Equalities
Duty which requires Public Bodies to have due regard to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
other conduct prohibited by the Equality Act 2010

 advance equality of opportunity and  foster good relations between 
people from different groups

 The broad purpose of this duty is to integrate considerations of 
equality into day business and keep them under review in decision 
making, the design of policies and the delivery of services

 Equalities and Diversity considerations are a key element of the 
Council’s approach to safeguarding and work with care leavers.

6.

Consultation

7. Not required

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. Adult Care Directorate Plan 2017-
18

Children’s Services Directorate 
Plan 2017-18

Public Health Directorate Plan 
2017-18

Number One Riverside, Smith Street, 
Rochdale OL16 1XU

For Further Information Contact: Ben Jorgensen, , 
ben.jorgensen@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 48



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  1  Of  6 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

11 January 2018 
 

  

         

   

 

AC17021 Implementing the quality assurance framework for service 
delivery with clear standards of service met 

 30 November 2017   

Objectives: Nov 2017 Increased number of Carers assessments and carers supported ....Internal Quality Assurance measures ..  

The quality assurance framework for social care is in place and now work is underway to develop an appropriate practice assurance model for 
the LCO. . A new dashboard is also under development along with commissioners to ensure transparent reporting to all boards. On track for 
expected progress 

09/01/18 

 

 

 

AC17022 Reviewing the safeguarding module of ALLIS  30 November 2017   

Objectives: Increased number of Carers assessments and carers supported ....Internal Quality Assurance measures ..  

The safeguarding model on allis (social care management system) has been reviewed and changes implemented. The organisational 
safeguarding model is still ongoing work. 

09/01/18 

 

 

 

AC17024 Reviewing social work practice governance in the joint Mental 
Health service 

 30 November 2017   

Objectives: Increased number of Carers assessments and carers supported ....Internal Quality Assurance measures ..  

The social work practice governance work stream is still in progress and the review should be complete by the end of January. 09/01/18 
 

 

 

AC17025  Strengthening ‘Making Safeguarding Personal~ with a data 
set which can be used to evidence service user outcomes and system  
compliance 

 30 November 2017   

Objectives: Increased number of Carers assessments and carers supported ....Internal Quality Assurance measures ..  

The MSP dataset is reported in some detail to the RBSAB QAPI group for scrutiny on a quarterly basis. There is also monthly and quarterly 
monitoring and reporting within the service through regular reporting. 

09/01/18 

 

 

 

AC17026   Implementing the carers strategy and work with the new 
service offer to maximise the number of carers supported. 

 30 November 2017   

Objectives: Increased number of Carers assessments and carers supported ....Internal Quality Assurance measures ..  

The number of carers supported has seen a 10% increase against the same period last year which demonstrates the new service is reaching 
more carers in the borough 

09/01/18 

 

 

 

 

P
age 49



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  2  Of  6 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

11 January 2018 
 

  

         

AC17001  Develop new integrated arrangements with NHS provider 
colleagues  

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: Teams in place....Clear links to specialist / borough wide services....Provider Board in place with governance agreement confirmed ..  

Neighbourhood teams are still in development using data to determine team sizes. Data is being utilized from the JSNA(Joint Strategic Needs 
Analysis)  and allis (internal system) to identify case geography and are allocating resources into the locality teams. This is on track to be in place 
by April 2018 

09/01/18 

 

 

 

AC17002 Agree clear governance arrangements for the new provider 
partnership  

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: Teams in place....Clear links to specialist / borough wide services....Provider Board in place with governance agreement confirmed ..  

This measure is being managed and monitored under the programme management office under the Locality plan and is making good progress 09/01/18 
 

 

 

AC17003 Establish new Neighbourhood teams   31 March 2018   

Objectives: Teams in place....Clear links to specialist / borough wide services....Provider Board in place with governance agreement confirmed ..  

Following data analysis, plans are being finalized to ensure the appropriate staff distribution to each neighbourhood team. the draft structure is 
complete and this project is on track to be achieved by the deadline of April 

09/01/18 

 

 

 

AC17004 Establish Adult Care is an active partner in the new local care 
organisation  

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: Teams in place....Clear links to specialist / borough wide services....Provider Board in place with governance agreement confirmed ..  

A project team is in place with clear goals and objectives to be achieved by April. LCO board is in place 09/01/18 
 

 

 

AC17005 Integrate Mental Health and Learning Disability Services into 
the new locality arrangements   

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: Teams in place....Clear links to specialist / borough wide services....Provider Board in place with governance agreement confirmed ..  

All elements of this objective are being managed by the project management office under the Locality Plan. Progress is on track  09/01/18 
 

 

 

AC17006 Develop support planning to make better use of peoples own 
and community resources 

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: 35% of personal budgets are taken as a cash budget for older and physically disabled people  ....2% reduction in long term care placements for older  

P
age 50



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  3  Of  6 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

11 January 2018 
 

  

         

and physically disabled people ....5% reduction in long term care placements for people with severe mental health needs....Increased 24/7 care options for 
people with learning disabilities or mental health needs....Set up 50 personal health budgets ....3% of eligible people have needs met by effective use of social 
capital by March 2018.. 

Transformation planning is ongoing. The prevention offer has been increased. Care Navigators are in post and care connector roles are currently 
being advertised. Evidence suggests that the care navigator role is successfully supporting people with alternative solutions in the community 

09/01/18 

 

 

 

AC17007  Increase the % of people who use cash budgets  31 March 2018   

Objectives: 35% of personal budgets are taken as a cash budget for older and physically disabled people  ....2% reduction in long term care placements for older 
and physically disabled people ....5% reduction in long term care placements for people with severe mental health needs....Increased 24/7 care options for 
people with learning disabilities or mental health needs....Set up 50 personal health budgets ....3% of eligible people have needs met by effective use of social 
capital by March 2018 .. 

 

At the end of quarter three, the service has achieved 34% of service users in receipt of self-directed support who take this as a cash budget. The 
service is on track to achieve the target by year end 

09/01/18 

 

 

 

AC17008  Reduce long term care home placements  31 March 2018   

Objectives: 35% of personal budgets are taken as a cash budget for older and physically disabled people  ....2% reduction in long term care placements for older 
and physically disabled people ....5% reduction in long term care placements for people with severe mental health needs....Increased 24/7 care options for 
people with learning disabilities or mental health needs....Set up 50 personal health budgets ....3% of eligible people have needs met by effective use of social 
capital by March 2018.. 

 

Despite a 3% growth in the over 65 population of the Borough, the number of permanent LA funded admissions to residential care has remained 
slightly lower than the same period last year which is an overall reduction and the service is on track to achieve the target set  

09/01/18 

 

 

 

AC17009 Develop health personal budgets as part of joint packages of 
care 

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: 35% of personal budgets are taken as a cash budget for older and physically disabled people  ....2% reduction in long term care placements for older 
and physically disabled people ....5% reduction in long term care placements for people with severe mental health needs....Increased 24/7 care options for 
people with learning disabilities or mental health needs....Set up 50 personal health budgets ....3% of eligible people have needs met by effective use of social 
capital by March 2018.. 

 

Personal Health Budget (PHB) work is ongoing. work is underway on system developments for the resource allocation system (RAS) to support 
the PHBs and we are confident this will be achieved. we are working positively with the CCG and Liquid Logic (adult social care systems 
provider) to test the new RAS to enable further use of the PHB. 

09/01/18 

 

 

 

AC17010 Review Greave house and Mental Health supported living 
schemes to support improved outcomes and independence for people 

 31 March 2018   

P
age 51



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  4  Of  6 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

11 January 2018 
 

  

         

with significant long term mental health needs  

Objectives: 35% of personal budgets are taken as a cash budget for older and physically disabled people  ....2% reduction in long term care placements for older 
and physically disabled people ....5% reduction in long term care placements for people with severe mental health needs....Increased 24/7 care options for 
people with learning disabilities or mental health needs....Set up 50 personal health budgets ....3% of eligible people have needs met by effective use of social 
capital by March 2018.. 

 

Planning permission for Springhill and the Autism project are awaited shortly and the project planning is on track. If this project progresses, this 
will increase the housing options for service users 

09/01/18 

 

 

 

AC17011 Extend the range of care and support options for people with 
learning disabilities  

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: 35% of personal budgets are taken as a cash budget for older and physically disabled people  ....2% reduction in long term care placements for older 
and physically disabled people ....5% reduction in long term care placements for people with severe mental health needs....Increased 24/7 care options for 
people with learning disabilities or mental health needs....Set up 50 personal health budgets ....3% of eligible people have needs met by effective use of social 
capital by March 2018.. 

 

Plans remain on track for the Autism and dementia strategies 09/01/18 
 

 

 

AC17015 Putting Integrated Discharge Teams in place across Pennine 
Acute Hospitals Sites 

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: Delayed Transfers of Care to be reduced to 2,812 delayed days in 2017/18....People who are medically fit to leave hospital to be reduced by 
50%....Non-elective admissions are reduced in line with the locality plan ....85 % of People (65+) discharged from hospital into reablement services still at home 
91 days .. 

 

Work on the integrated discharge teams is on track and will be achieved . At the end of October, Rochdale remains one of the best performing 
Councils and is under target year to date. The Non-elective admissions at the end of quarter three are likely to remain off track. Work is ongoing 
into the impact of the ambulatory care pathway which is likely to be having an adverse affect on this measure. 

09/01/18 

 

 

 

AC17017   Increasing the % of people able to be independent as a result 
of enablement services 

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: Delayed Transfers of Care to be reduced to 2,812 delayed days in 2017/18....People who are medically fit to leave hospital to be reduced by 
50%....Non-elective admissions are reduced in line with the locality plan ....85 % of People (65+) discharged from hospital into reablement services still at home 
91 days .. 

 

The service continues to maintain good levels of reablement for service users. The service is currently on track with an average reablement rate 
of 89% across the year to date  

09/01/18 

 

 

 

P
age 52



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  5  Of  6 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

11 January 2018 
 

  

         

AC17018  Extending the  social care offer at A&E departments with 
partner organisations to reduce unnecessary admissions  

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: Delayed Transfers of Care to be reduced to 2,812 delayed days in 2017/18....People who are medically fit to leave hospital to be reduced by 
50%....Non-elective admissions are reduced in line with the locality plan ....85 % of People (65+) discharged from hospital into reablement services still at home 
91 days .. 

 

There is an urgent care team based at A&E to signpost people to the appropriate services. A patient flow team is being established with plans 
and specifications in place along with an integrated delivery team 

09/01/18 

 

 

 

AC17019 We will strengthen the transition arrangement, and  for young 
people with the most complex needs 

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: The production of a clear plan for service improvement plan for services for 0 – 25yrs  for children and young people   

A data set for the 18-25 year old group is currently being reviewed and ongoing. Proposals for closer working relations have been produced for 
the transition group that focuses on the interface between the FSM and the LCO 

09/01/18 

 

 

 

AC17020 Increase the options for more people with learning disabilities 
to gain and keep employment, working with commissioners, 
established employment support providers and employers  

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: 7% of adults with a learning disability to be in paid employment  

5.7% of active service users with a learning disability are recorded as in paid employment. Work is ongoing to improve this figure as it is below 
our internal target set. Despite being under our internal target, it is still a performance which is above NW average. A paper is being produced in 
January making recommendations to increase disabled people’s opportunities to access work and how contractual arrangements for 2018/19 can 
better facilitate this aim 

09/01/18 

 

 

 

AC17013  Work with commissioners to develop and implement a new 
Dementia offer  

 30 September 2018   

Objectives: New social care leadership in place in Mental health....New service offer available to people with Dementia and their carers....New Approved Mental 
Health Practitioner (AMPH) service in place which assists in reduced number of people with mental health needs attending A&E departments..... 

 

The Dementia strategy is in final draft stage. Offers for enhanced carer and daytime services for dementia service users is on track for Spring 
2018 

09/01/18 

 

 

 

P
age 53



  

 

       

   

Adult Social Care Services Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  6  Of  6 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4_2 
 

  

11 January 2018 
 

  

         

AC17014 Develop a stronger 24/7 Approved Mental Health Practitioner 
(AMHP) service which improves access, and assures quality and 
increases consistency of practice under the Mental health Act.  

 30 September 2018   

Objectives: New social care leadership in place in Mental health....New service offer available to people with Dementia and their carers....New Approved Mental 
Health Practitioner (AMPH) service in place which assists in reduced number of people with mental health needs attending A&E departments... 

 

New metal health hub is on track to be operational by April 2018. Recruitment is underway for additional AMHP staff 09/01/18 
 

 

 

AC17023  Reviewing and simplifying unnecessary steps in assessment 
practice  

 30 November 2017   

Objectives: Objective 4:..People in our borough have a good start and are able to live well, age well and die well....Objective 15:..Perception of Rochdale is 
changed.. 
 
Assessment process reviewed and streamlined           

 

 

 

 

AC17016 Extending effective Trusted assessor arrangements to include 
all wards at Fairfield Hospital  

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: Delayed Transfers of Care to be reduced to 2,812 delayed days in 2017/18....People who are medically fit to leave hospital to be reduced by 
50%....Non-elective admissions are reduced in line with the locality plan ....85 % of People (65+) discharged from hospital into reablement services still at home 
91 days .. 

 

The medically fit for discharge measure is on track and performing as expected. Trusted assessor arrangements are effective at all sites .  09/01/18 
 

 

 

AC17012  Improve social care governance and service delivery as part 
of the joint service provided by RBC and Pennine Care Foundation NHS 
trust (mental health provider)  

 30 September 2018   

Objectives: New social care leadership in place in Mental health....New service offer available to people with Dementia and their carers....New Approved Mental 
Health Practitioner (AMPH) service in place which assists in reduced number of people with mental health needs attending A&E departments... 

 

A permanent Head of Service has been appointed along with a social care/AMHP lead. Work programme is in place with Pennine Care to have a 
new integrated leadership structure in place by summer 2018 

09/01/18 

 

 

 
 

   

 

P
age 54



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services: Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  1  Of  6 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4 
 

  

27 October 2017 
 

  

         

   

 

CS17005 Increase Safeguarding Unit oversight and challenge for our 
most vulnerable children. 

 30 September 2017   

Objectives: • Independent reviews of Public Law Outline and Care Leaver cases taking place  

The number of C4C has continued to rise and as a result the capacity within the SCU has reduced. The process surrounding oversight of children 
subject to PLO under CIN and Care Leavers Red RAG rated has been written and presented to SMT. The proposal regarding CYP subject to 
PLO whilst under CIN plan was not progressed and it was agreed that they would be made subject to CPP rather than duplicate a process. The 
SCU continues to review capacity within the IRO service specifically with regard to Care Leavers. The IROs increased allocations, which has 
therefore impacted on the ability of the SCU to take on additional work but will be monitored on a regular basis 

12/01/18 

 

 

 

CS17010 Embed the raising Participation Age Plan to improve the 
engagement and participation for 16-18 year olds and ensure the post 
16 offer is accessible to all.  

 30 September 2017   

 
 
Due to the secondment of a Participation Development Officer, the Raising Participation teams are prioritising workload in relation to the 
Apprenticeship Levy. Visits to schools have reduced in relation to CEIAG. Schools have the duty to ensure they offer a CEIAG programme from 
Year 8 onwards regardless of LA input. 

 
 
 

12/01/18 

 

 

 

CS17009f Implement the School Improvement Strategy and Early years 
strategy - Determine priority primary schools for school year 2017 – 
April 2018 

 30 April 2018   

 

 Priority schools have been identified and has been informed by pupil outcomes and other intelligence e.g. Strength of leadership, leadership capacity, exclusion and 
attendance data and inspection outcomes and predictions. This action is complete. 
 

CS17008d  Complete delivery of the SEND Action Plan - Facilitate a Peer 
Challenge from the Regional Improvement Team to measure progress 

 30 November 2017   

 
Agreement reached re peer challenge - Peer challenge team been identified and is scheduled to take place at the end of Jan or first week in Feb. 
Preparation for the Peer Challenge has begun with a joint review of our self-assessment. 

 
 

12/01/18 

 

 

 

 CS17002 Establish a pre-birth assessment service   31 December 2017   

Objectives: ·     Reduction in the number of mothers who have previously had children removed having further children taken into care  

Individual partner meetings have been held. Project Lead engaged in national learning Practice Manager post to be advertised in February 2018 16/01/18 

 

P
age 55



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services: Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  2  Of  6 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4 
 

  

27 October 2017 
 

  

         

to support development. 
 

 

 

CS17006a Deliver the Early Help Strategy - Public Health and Children’s 
Services to develop an action plan to address Childhood Obesity and 
Dental Health issues  

 31 December 2017   

• The early help team continue to promote early help and the new EHA via a number of generic and bespoke briefings and training sessions.  The 
number of open/active EHA’s has increased but more significantly the number of new EHA’s in the year has increased to over 1120 for 16/17. 
We still need however to see an increase in EHA’s accompanying MARFs into the MASS and particularly the number of new agencies initiating 
EHA’s..• The Family Conflict model and offer has to date largely been delivered via the Early Help team. Plans are now underway to expand the 
offer and in particular to upskill a number of other staff teams and partners so that the offer can be delivered much more widely.  The offer will 
include a range of workers being trained to work with family and parental conflict, including separated parents work; interventions focused on 
adolescents who are violent towards their parents (APVA, Teen Centric) and violent towards each other (YPVA); improved access to specific 
programmes for victims (Freedom) and perpetrators (Strength to Change)..• There is a longer term plan now to commission a single case 
management system for Children’s Services but its implementation is still some time away.  In response to SCR’s particularly for Child L some 
immediate measure were put in place to improve information sharing and visibility of different workers interventions to each other and we are on 
the verge now of implementing a further proposal for family support key workers to resume recording their level 4 and 5 work on LCS... 

27/07/17 

 

 

 

CS17008a Complete delivery of the SEND Action Plan - Develop and 
publish 0- 25 SEND Strategy 

 31 December 2017   

 

SEND and ASC Strategy has been signed off by Children with Disabilities Partnership on July 14th 2017 . Partnership SEND action Plan meeting 
is chaired by DCS. Meeting held with DFE and NHS England regarding progress against the Statement of Action. Initial action plan has been 
completed and subsequent action plan agreed with specific timescales and lead has been confirmed. DFE have confirmed that they are satisfied 
with Rochdale’s strong progress. 

 
12/01/18 

  
 

 

 

CS17008b Complete delivery of the SEND Action Plan -  Develop and 
publish ASC Strategy 

 31 December 2017   

 
ASC Strategy produced and signed off at CWD board - Strategy now informing develop of provision 

 
12/01/18 

 

 

 

CS17004 Relaunch and embed the Quality Assurance framework and 
maintain a sustained focus on practice  

 31 January 2018   

Objectives: • Framework launched and operational.• Increased number of audits completed with the allocated key worker and involve a discussion with partner  

P
age 56



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services: Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  3  Of  6 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4 
 

  

27 October 2017 
 

  

         

agencies, children and families..• Increased number of Good and Outstanding audit outcomes.. 

The Children’s Social Care Quality Assurance Framework has been revised and agreed by the Social Care Management Team. A number of the 
new aspects to the Framework are underway - thematic review of a selection of Child in Need Cases was undertaken in April and a report has 
been discussed at Senior Leadership Team regarding the findings. In relation to Early Help and Schools the Performance Framework revisions 
have been discussed and agreed in individual performance clinics. 

25/07/17 

 

 

 

CS17003 Improve the quality and menu of interventions offered to 
families who experience domestic violence and children experiencing 
neglect.  

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: • Increase the number of participants of domestic abuse programmes that report a positive change in behavior  

Governance and Operational group arrangements have been revised. Dedicated score card to monitor impact of focus on neglect developed. 
Audit activity identifying strengths and further improvement activity. 

16/01/18 

 

 

 

CS17007 Implement the Family Services Model which includes Single 
Point of Access, 4 Early Help Locality Teams &  Integrated 
‘intermediate’ response 

 31 March 2018   

 
Recruitment completed for all posts within core locality teams with one re-advert. Some posts within hub recruited to. Hub and 4 teams to be 
launched at 4 events w/c January 22nd. Attendances very high . Hub has commenced a soft launch to align internal processes ready for public 
launch end of January. FSM Partnership has met once as the overall accountable body within the governance structure and the FSM and 
Transformation operational group has been formally signed off as a formal subgroup. EHA Outcomes linked to implementation of the model to 
commence in January. 

 
12/01/18 

  
 

 

 

CS17008c Complete delivery of the SEND Action Plan - Increase access 
to Local Offer across 0-25  (10 % increase on March 2017 base line) 

 31 March 2018   

 
Significant increase in Local offer take up is evident. Usage is tracked and monitored by the CWD Board . The total number of hits to the local 
offer page this quarter is 854. This is a 6% increase on the same period last year and an increase of 17% on last quarter. 

 
12/01/18 

 

 

 

CS17009b  Implement the School Improvement Strategy and Early years 
strategy - To have reviewed the Secondary Strategy for September 2017 
in partnership with the Pioneers trust  

 30 June 2017   

P
age 57



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services: Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  4  Of  6 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4 
 

  

27 October 2017 
 

  

         

The Secondary Strategy for School Improvement has been reviewed in partnership with the Pioneers trust. This action is complete. 18/10/17 
 

 

 

CS17009c Implement the School Improvement Strategy and Early years 
strategy - Determine priority secondary schools for school year 2017 – 
2018  

 31 October 2017   

Priority schools have been identified and has been informed by pupil outcomes and other intelligence e.g. Strength of leadership, leadership 
capacity, exclusion and attendance data and inspection outcomes and predictions. This action is complete.  
 
 
 
 

18/10/17 

 

 

 

CS17009d Implement the School Improvement Strategy and Early years 
strategy - To have completed consultation and secured draft proposals 
for the introduction of a revised Schools Primary Strategy with effect 
from April 2018 

 31 July 2017   

Consultation on proposals for the introduction of a revised School Improvement Strategy from April 2018 has as yet been initiated. This is due to 
unforeseen piece of work to be undertaken in preparation for this.  

18/10/17 

 

 

 

CS17009g Implement the School Improvement Strategy and Early years 
strategy -  Utilising end of EYFS data 2017, identify priority settings for 
targeted intervention 

 30 September 2017   

Priority EYFS settings have been identified using EYFS data.  18/10/17 
 

 

 

CS17009e Implement the School Improvement Strategy and Early years 
strategy - Appoint system leaders to carry out school improvement 
functions  currently undertaken by the LA  with effect from April 2018  

 30 October 2017   

System leaders have been appointed. They will begin to undertake some of the school improvement functions this term. 18/10/17 
 

 

 

CS17001 Re-align Children’s Social Care’s team remits and transition 
points in line with the Family Service Model and Single Point of Access 

 01 September 2017   

P
age 58



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services: Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  5  Of  6 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4 
 

  

27 October 2017 
 

  

         

developments 

Objectives: Children’s Social Care front door aligned with Locality Working Models..·         Re-referral rate target achieved (Target - 18%)  

Family Service Model (FSM) with the Early Help and Safeguarding Hub went live in November 2017. Appointment to Strategic lead post made. 
Recruitment of social workers has been placed and FRT teams have been aligned. 

23/08/17 

 

 

 

CS17006c Deliver the Early Help Strategy -  Development and continued 
roll out of our Family Conflict provision 

 01 September 2017   

 
In addition to previous developments the Early Help team facilitated a multi-agency training session for a number of staff to deliver a nationally 
recognised Break 4 Change intervention for families where young people are violent towards their parents/carers 

 
12/01/18 

 

 

 

CS17006b Deliver the Early Help Strategy  - Continuing the roll out of 
the new Early Help Assessment broadening its use and impact 

 30 September 2017   

 

The EHA team continue to deliver generic training sessions on Early Help and the EHA and bespoke briefings by request for specific 
organisations. In addition the new Locality EHA officers are promoting EHA’s within their developing locality networks and this will be promoted at 
the forthcoming Locality launches from 22/01/18. In addition in response to feedback from the field we have again revised the EHA form to make 
it shorter – more family friendly and integrates the assessment with an asset based approach (strengths and difficulties). In order to increase 
numbers of EHA’s a report has also been taken to the safeguarding board identifying some of our current concerns and where growth could be 
seen. 

 
12/01/18 

  
 

 

 

CS17009a Implement the School Improvement Strategy and Early years 
strategy - To provide sufficient school places for children within the 
Borough for 2017-2018 and have a clear plan in place to increase places 
going forward to meet demand. 

 30 September 2017   

An interim school improvement strategy was implemented in September 2017. An improvement strategy to enable improvements to the good 
level of development is in place, this details intervention, training and support for targeted settings for the school year 2017-2018. This action is 
complete. 

18/10/17 

 

 

 

CS17006d Deliver the Early Help Strategy  - Continued development and 
embedded use of joined up or single case management systems and 
processes 

 31 March 2018   

P
age 59



  

 

       

   

Children’s Services: Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  6  Of  6 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4 
 

  

27 October 2017 
 

  

         

 
Following recommendations from the serious case review for child L family support workers are now back on the LCS system recording case 
notes for cases co-worked with a social worker. This began in November 2017 with briefing s and additional support to aid their use of the system 
which was new to some of them. To date there have been no concerns logged to suggest this isn’t working and Early Help case managers are 
being asked to check in supervision that it is working. 

 
12/08/18 

 
 

 

 
 

   

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 60



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  1  Of  5 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4 
 

  

27 October 2017 
 

  

         

   

 

PH17011 Develop a behaviour change programme (cohort specific) as 
part of the Councils wider corporate commitment to changing the 
conversation between citizen and state 

 30 September 2017   

Objectives: Behaviour change design commissioned. Delivery of submitted bid to GM BIT team (childhood obesity letter) regardless of bid outcome. Partner in 
corporate behaviour change strategic approach (with Neighbourhoods)...Outcome: reduction in demand for specified cohort of residents (test case) 
Boroughwide behaviour change programme in place... 
 
Met with Hitch Marketing and discussed key points around recent update report following concerns raised - opportunity for the group to discuss as appropriate 
and challenge any queries or concerns the Steering Group had. Future aims and ambitions of project discussed amongst group including discussion around how 
Hitch expect the programme to be looking by end of February 2018. Methods of research proposals discussed and number of interviews undertaken by Hitch 
raised as felt this was slightly inadequate – more have been planned for early January. Ongoing it was agreed for Hitch to provide clear breakdown of progress 
and workflow showing progress made and planned for January/February/March 2018. Hitch to contact Ryan Staniland to clarify contacts for engagement or 
stakeholder queries and also to confirm next steps against the Gantt chart and key links to service outcomes to enable appropriate future planning (with Steering 
Group approval). Next meeting planned for Wednesday 24th January 2018 10am – 11.30am – Room 308 

 

 

 
10/01/18 

 

 

 

PH17010 Robust commissioning of key mandated and non-mandated 
services 

 31 March 2017   

Objectives: New model developed and commissioned for Drugs and Alcohol Services. Health visiting service recommissioned. Contribute and support 
development of GM sexual health system. Oral health improvement action plan delivered. Mid-term contracts maintain good performance. Outcome: all services 
securely commissioned – mandation conditions met. 
 
Oral Health Packs continued to be delivered via antenatal, updates with Health visiting, referral pathways to Living well OHI team given to early years workforce, 
OHI team continue to deliver dental packs in nursery settings for family socialisation and workshops to teaching staff. Engagement with GMPHE and 
collaboration with Start Well programme and Healthy Living dentistry. 

 

 

 
10/01/18 

 

 

 

PH17009 Reduce hospital admissions in children by developing and 
implementing accident prevention Programme   

 31 August 2017   

Objectives: Current pilot project extended and contractual agreement with GM Fire and Rescue service done. Action plan for training volunteers developed and 
implemented. Reduction in number of children’s hospital admissions. Outcome: Reduce A&E admissions in children due to accidents by 15% by 2022... 
 

 

Rochdale Accident Prevention Scheme. The scheme has over performed in terms of numbers of staff trained, a wide range of partners have 
engaged. 100% of staff report they have increased awareness of accident prevention agenda. In Q2 107 referral had been made to service 
(target for the year is 300). Targeted work to be done to increase referrals from areas with high A& E rates due to accidents. In the same period 
185 children 0-4 accessed the service with 442 accident prevention equipment items fitted. Evaluation returns (from front line staff - referrers) 
have been very poor work to address this will take place but this needs the commitment of services leads. 

10/01/18 

 

 

 

 

P
age 61



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  2  Of  5 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4 
 

  

27 October 2017 
 

  

         

PH17015 Develop a self-care strategy for Borough, including supporting 
the development of better workplace health. 

 31 August 2017   

Objectives: Development of self-care strategy and Action plan developed and agreed by partners. Scoping report re opportunities and benefits of a revised 
approach to workplace health...Outcome: Clear workplace health approach for RBC and self-care strategy and action plan for the borough... 
 
It has been agreed that Pennine Acute will host the self-care strategy manager post and a matrix management arrangement will be developed between Pennine 
Acute and the Prevention and Access Partnership Board. Pennine Acute have commenced recruitment to the post and should be completed by end of January 
2018. 

 

 
 
15/01/18 

 

 

 

PH17001 Set out a borough-wide / all agencies strategy and 7 year 
implementation plan to reduce the burden of  Childhood Obesity 
(including poor oral health) across the borough 

 31 January 2018   

Objectives: Robust strategy and clear action plan in place and all partners signed up to co-delivery. Common approach is embedded across council and partner 
organizations...Outcome: Reduce childhood obesity rate by a quarter (25%) by 2024 (measurement: the National Child measurement Programme Yr. 6). 

 

Childhood obesity The Obesity Action Plan is delivered via an implementation group. Actions include the LA signing up to the Declaration of 
Healthy Weight; this will be presented to CCG for sign up in January 2018. The Integrated Healthy Lifestyle service are working on developing 
the parent (National Child Measurement Programme) letter in order to increase uptake to services. In working towards Rochdale becoming a 
Sugar Smart Town a series of GULP (Give Up Loving Pop) challenges will begin in January in 4 schools, it is planned that this will extend across 
the borough. An Executive Group has been set up to drive this agenda internally and across partner agencies. 
 
Progress with GM Transformation fund bid – Rochdale is one of the 4 targeted areas in GM, GM coordinator to start in Feb local HMR facilitator 
to start March/April, discussions with provider to establish handover of Health visitor dental packs and training sessions for staff, allows targeted 
increase OHI improvement by core team in Living well to support increase on Breast feeding and to support the GULP and obesity work, this will 
help to deliver information in the reduction on the sugar levels in foods and drinks for early years and junior children. HMR locality plan regarding 
fluoride varnish has moved forward in the agreement of staffing requirements and prescribing with GM consultant in DPH. 

10/01/18 

 

 

 

PH17008 .Develop and expand approaches to identify undiagnosed 
cardiovascular disease (CVD) – i.e. find the missing thousands to 
prevent, detect and treat heart disease at an early stage 

 31 January 2018   

Objectives: Health and wellbeing coaches recruited and Action plan developed in collaboration with CCG/partners. Prevention partnership board developed with 
appropriate partners. National Diabetes Prevention Programme extended until 2019.Outcome: Decrease gap between predicted and actual CVD registered. 

 

Prevention partnership board has been established for the Locality Plan with appropriate partners. Public health support has been provided to 
CCG leads on action to improve heart disease and diabetes outcomes. The National Diabetes Prevention Programme will be extended in 
Rochdale Borough until 2019. The mandated health checks Programme continues to deliver well across the Borough and work is underway to 
agree the programme for 2018/19. The work to develop a programme to address hypertension has been put back to Q4 

15/01/18 

 

 

 

P
age 62



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  3  Of  5 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4 
 

  

27 October 2017 
 

  

         

PH170012 Lead the management and delivery of the prevention theme 
of the Rochdale Locality Plan 

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: Prevention plan developed in collaboration with PMO. Prevention partnership board developed with appropriate partners. Prevention plan actioned. 
CBA benefits realised.Outcome: delivery of prevention theme on track and milestones met. 
 
The Prevention and Access theme Partnership Board is in place and has agreed terms of reference and membership. Each intervention with the Prevention and 
Access theme has a project plan and risk register. The programme is on track to achieve all milestones in the current quarter. 

 

 
15/01/18 

 

 

 

PH17006 Undertake an Equity Audit and develop and implement an 
action plan to increase immunisation and screening uptake 

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: Complete Equity Audit. Action plan developed for early diagnosis of HIV and TB .Increased uptake of immunisation and screening 
programmes.Outcome: Increase immunisation rates by 10% by 2022.Reduce Cancer mortality attributed to late diagnosis by 10% by 2022. 

 

Uptake on GHT workshops for HIV awareness in Primary Care with positive speakers, 12 sessions planned for GP practices and primary care 
staff until March 2018, discussions in regard to further work in 201819, information to GP practice managers forum, HIV request now available on 
T Quest sheet for Primary Care, event is delivered in December working closely with PASH to raise the profile in “It Starts with Me campaign” 
rapid testing sites available social media information and press releases. 
 
Meetings were held with the Public Health England Screening and Immunisation Team and support provide to improve further uptake and reduce 
variation in immunization and screening rates. 

10/01/18 

 

 

 

PH17013 Strengthen the impact and robustness of strategic intelligence 
in the context of local integrated commissioning and in the context of 
emerging GM intelligence approaches 

 31 March 2018   

Objectives: Drive and provide health intelligence for HWB partners. Health equity audits and needs assessments undertaken as indicated by JSNA. Outcome: 
Joint approach to intelligence for the health and social care system to support commissioning. Robust JSNA, readily accessible, iterative (rather than periodical) 
digitally based, with a work plan that reflects health and wellbeing priorities for the borough by end of 2017/8. 

 

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) has been refreshed as agreed by the Health and Wellbeing Board. A summary document has 
been produced and will be agreed by the Board in Q4. The public website will be available in Q4.  
 
A joint working group has been established to develop an integrated business intelligence work programme across the Council, CCG and NHS 
Trusts and several pieces of joint work are underway 

18/01/18 

 

 

 

PH17014 Undertake a robust review of Link 4 Life and related leisure 
and culture services arrangements to ensure they are resilient and fit 
for purpose for the next 5-10 years 

 31 March 2018   

P
age 63



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  4  Of  5 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4 
 

  

27 October 2017 
 

  

         

Objectives: Review individual services and sites and proposed strategic direction. Outcome: Sport and physical activity strategy (in line with GM approaches and 
local needs).Outcome: Plan for future of L4L services in place. 
 
A strategic group has met several times to progress the Link4Life partnership agreement. The project is on track to deliver by April 2018.      17 

 

 
 
27/10/17 

 

 

 

PH17004 Develop a 5 action plan to reduce physical inactivity 
particularly increasing cycling and walking in line with the GM Sport 
and Physical Activity Strategy.  

 31 August 2018   

Objectives: Cyclo park plan proposal developed. Action Plan developed to increase walking Expansion of Daily Mile to all schools, commence ‘daily toddle’, and 
mile a day (Adults) programmes. Commissioned services implement action plan Outcome: decrease number of physically inactive and obesity by 15% by 2022.. 

 

 
Feasibility of a Cyclo park plan continues to be progressed ..Promotion of the Daily Mile has been done to all schools. A ‘daily toddles’ 
programme and scheme has been developed. The GM Moving Strategy has been agreed and disseminated...A Borough action plan for physical 
activity is at final draft stage. A workforce programme included 1 Riverside taking part in UK Active Fitness Day in September... 

 
18/10/17 

 

 

 

PH17005 Lead the delivery of the local and Greater Manchester Suicide 
Prevention strategy and action plans 

 31 August 2018   

Objectives: Strategy and action plan developed .Stakeholder engagement plan developed and actioned. Improved response for those affected. Outcome: 10% 
reduction in suicides by 2020 (national target). 
 

 

 

 

 

PH17007 Undertake a review of the resilience of the Public Protection 
service and develop a 3-5 year forward plan. 

 31 August 2018   

Objectives: Review completed and approved by Cabinet. Outcome: Risks to population health and reputational risk to the council are reduced. ..  

 
A Health Protection Working Group continues to meet to assure the Director of Public Health and Wellbeing and the HWBB that the Borough has 
robust systems and practice to protect the local population. A review of the Public Protection function is underway. 

 
15/01/18 

 

 

 

PH17003 Develop a Borough wide Volunteering Strategy and action 
plan to increase the resilience of the voluntary sector, and set out 
proposals for a corporate approach to staff volunteering for RBC. 

 31 December 2018   

Objectives: I) Volunteering strategy for the borough (supporting the development of volunteering).ii) Corporate Volunteering policy considered by Informal 
Cabinet. Outcomes: increase social value, social capital, reduce isolation and loneliness and increase access to employment. 

 

P
age 64



  

 

       

   

Public Health and Wellbeing Directorate Plan 2017-18 
 

  

         

          
 

Action Plan 
 

Due Date 
 

 

Status 
 

 

          

         

         
    

Page  5  Of  5 
 

    

  

Directorate Plan New. v4 
 

  

27 October 2017 
 

  

         

 

 

 
 

   

 

PH17002 Develop and implement an all agencies/partners 5 year 
Tobacco control strategy in conjunction with the GM tobacco Strategy 
action plan. 

 31 January 2018   

Strategy is embedded in statutory and non-statutory  organisations and all organisations work to implement action plan 
Outcome: reduce smoking prevalence by a quarter (25%) by 2022, reduce sales of illicit tobacco, reduce crime relating to illicit sales. 

 
The Rochdale Tobacco Free Alliance has updated our action plan to reflect the recently published national tobacco free strategy as well as the GM Making 
Smoking History strategic plan. We are currently developing our ‘Rochdale Tobacco Free Framework for Action’ following the finalised GM detailed 
implementation plan (publication autumn / winter 2017 following stakeholder and public engagement). The Framework will highlight Rochdale’s priorities and 
targets aligned to the GM strategy and be launched at a partnership event in March 2018. 

 

 
 
18/10/17 

 

 

 

P
age 65



Report to Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date of Meeting 25th January 2018
Portfolio Cabinet Member for Adult 

Care, Cabinet Member for 
Children's Services

Report Author Carolyn Whitham
Public/Private Document Public

1st & 2nd Quarter Social Care Complaints

Executive Summary

1. The report provides Members with a summary of Adult and Children’s Social 
Care complaints and compliments received during the first half of 2017/18.

Recommendation

2. It is recommended that Members of the Committee consider and scrutinise the 
information contained in the report and assess whether further information or 
explanation is required regarding any of the issues raised in the report.

Reason for Recommendation

3. Part of the Council’s performance management process is to ensure the
Authority’s ambition to continuously improve services is realised, and actions 
or decisions may need to be taken to maintain improvement.

Key Points for Consideration

4. Appendix 1 to the report provides a brief commentary relating to complaints 
dealt with under the relevant complaints procedure by Adult Social Care and 
Children’s Social Care Services during the 1st and 2nd quarters of 2017/18. 

Appendix 1 also includes examples of how an individual complaint has been 
dealt with from receipt to resolution as requested by Members at a previous 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting.

Appendix 2 provides details of complaints in graph form.  The format of the 
report includes information on trends, and the graphs are expanded to display 
trend analysis for each quarter throughout the year.  

Adult Social Care complaint figures will also include details of any complaints 
regarding financial assessments received during the reporting period.  This is 
a function carried out by the Revenues and Benefits Service.  

The Customer Feedback Team are working with services to improve the 

Page 66

Agenda Item 10



4.1

quality of information recorded, and to ensure lessons are being learnt from 
complaints and action taken is recorded and reported.  

To improve complaints monitoring, the Customer Feedback Team also 
provides weekly status reports to Assistant Directors to enable closer 
monitoring of current complaints.  

Alternatives Considered

None.  Information has been compiled from the complaints recording system 
which is used to record complaints and compliments received by social care 
services.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. None of the complaints received in this quarter had financial implications.

Complaints considered at stage two or stage three of the Children’s Social 
Care complaints procedure have financial implications due to the statutory 
requirement to appoint an external Independent Person and in some cases an 
external Investigating Officer at stage two, and three independent people to sit 
on a Review Panel at stage three. All costs associated with Children’s Social 
Care complaints incurred throughout the year are included in the Children’s 
Social Care Annual Complaints Report.

Risk and Policy Implications

There are no specific risk issues for Members to consider arising from this 
report.

Complainants have the opportunity to refer their complaint to the Local 
Government Ombudsman for up to twelve months from completion of the 
Council’s complaints process; therefore there is a risk that the outcome of a 
future Ombudsman investigation into a complaint may result in a 
recommended financial remedy.  Complaints considered by the Ombudsman 
are reported to Overview and Scrutiny Committee annually on receipt of the 
Ombudsman’s annual report.

6.

Consultation

7. Not applicable.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. None

For Further Information Contact: Carolyn Whitham, Tel: 01706 923508, 
carolyn.whitham@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 67



1

Appendix 1
Complaint Statistics

Adult Social Care

In June 2007 the Department of Health provided a set of proposals to unify and 
reform the current arrangements for making complaints across Health and Adult 
Social Care; ‘Making Experiences Count.’ As well as fulfilling the commitment in 'Our 
Health, Our Care, Our Say', it proposed a radical new approach to complaints 
handling which is more flexible and supports organisational learning. 
The formalised guidance for the new arrangements was published on 25 February 
2009; ‘Listening, Responding, Improving’ and the Regulations were laid before 
Parliament on 27 February 2009 for councils and health organisations to implement 
from 1 April 2009. 
These Regulations enshrine a duty to co-operate with health partners in relation to 
complaints that cut across Health and Social Care Services.
The Council introduced a joint complaints process for dealing with Health and Adult 
social care complaints from 1 April 2009.  It relates to concerns received from this 
date onwards and is in line with the Making Experiences Count initiative.  
Where a complaint is received about Adult Social Care Services functions or functions 
of any party to the Joint Protocol (i.e. Health Partners) the organisation which 
receives the complaint handles the co-ordination of the complaint.   
The process for dealing with Adult Social Care complaints is a one stage process.  If 
the complainant remains dissatisfied with the outcome of their complaint they may 
refer their concerns for consideration by the Local Government Ombudsman.
Not all complaints received by Adult Care are eligible to be considered under the 
statutory procedure, and where a complaint does not meet the criteria, it will be 
considered under the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure.  Details of Adult 
Care complaints considered under both procedures will be included in this report.
18 new complaints were received by Adult Care Services during the first half of 2017-
18.  Details of these complaints and their outcomes can be found below.

The types of complaints received

13 new complaints were received during the first quarter 

1 complaint was upheld:
 1 Information provided re care charges

6 complaints were partially upheld:
 1 Care assessment and disputed care fees (Joint with another authority)
 1 Handling of safeguarding investigation 
 1 Lack of action in response to concerns re care provider (Joint with Health)
 1 Lack of response to concerns raised re care home
 1 Invoice received for care fees
 1 Involvement of Social Worker and Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) 

Team

5 complaints were not upheld.

Page 68

http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Managingyourorganisation/Legalandcontractual/Complaintspolicy/MakingExperiencesCount/index.htm
http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/DH_095408
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si2009/uksi_20090309_en_1


2

Appendix 1

1 complaint is still ongoing after being put on hold for several weeks at the request of 
the complainant.

5 new complaints were received during the second quarter 

2 complaints were upheld:
 1 Confusing information provided re Personal Budget allocation
 1 Response to safeguarding concerns re care home 

1 complaint was partially upheld:
 1 Hospital discharge arrangements and care provision

1 complaint was not upheld.

1 complaint is still ongoing.  

Examples of Action Taken and Lessons Learned

First Quarter

Following the upheld complaint regarding information about care charges, although 
the Council’s policy is clear, it was not clear that the complainant had been provided 
with the appropriate information in the correspondence received.  The charge was 
reconciled to reflect the services that were used and a recommendation was made for 
the service to review the information being sent to ensure that it is clear and 
transparent to avoid any confusion.

As a result of the complaint about the management of a safeguarding investigation, a 
number of learning needs were identified: 

• A clear understanding of the roles of Commissioners and the Care 
Management Teams to be defined.

• The reporting and investigation of section 42 enquiries to be responsive and 
timely with communication throughout the process.

• Scrutiny of reports prior to case conference to be maintained by the 
Safeguarding Adult Manager with clear leadership from the Safeguarding Adult 
Manager in the investigation process.

• Training to be delivered to providers around their roles and responsibilities in a 
section 42 enquiry.

An action plan was drawn up to address the above points, with designated officers 
and timeframes in which the actions will be completed. All staff were reminded of the 
importance of clear communications and the expectation to follow safeguarding 
policies and procedures.  Providers are to be given the opportunity to attend training, 
and information will be reiterated to them.

The complaint regarding an invoice received for care fees highlighted where 
processes could be improved around communication when a person is placed away 
from home in an emergency, and the importance of allocating a Care Manager as 
early as possible to help speed up the process. This action was fed back into the Duty 
process.   The Investigating Officer also met with the care agency involved along with 
the Commissioning Manager to highlight initial inconsistencies around the care 
delivered.

Page 69



3

Appendix 1
Second Quarter

As a result of the complaint regarding confusing information being provided about a 
Personal Budget allocation, the Social Worker concerned was provided with further 
training to increase their knowledge of the cash budget process.

Following the complaint regarding the response to safeguarding concerns at a care 
home, a number of recommendations were made which were incorporated into an 
action plan with identified lead officers and timescales:

 Rochdale Borough Safeguarding Adults Board (RBSAB) created and issued a 
Falls Protocol clarifying when care homes should refer a fall as a safeguarding 
concern.  The Protocol was distributed to all care providers and tabled as an 
agenda item at a provider meeting.

 At the next Safeguarding Adult Manager forum it was made clear that if a case 
conference is cancelled for whatever reason, it is the responsibility of the Chair 
to ensure arrangements are in place to inform all attendees.

 All Safeguarding Adults Managers to be briefed to reiterate the need to ensure 
that individuals and their families are kept updated with progress of 
safeguarding enquiries and to ensure case records reflect all actions and 
decisions taken during a formal safeguarding enquiry.

 Spot check to be arranged with some of the staff at the care home to ensure 
they are aware of what to do if a similar incident occurs in the future.  

 RBSAB to continue to provide a programme of safeguarding training for 
providers, including provider expectations about safeguarding.

 Formal request to Healthwatch to undertake an ‘enter and view’ of the care 
home to explore the experience of residents and families at the current time.

 Recommendation that care homes display their complaints procedure and 
information on how individuals can raise a safeguarding concern in a public 
area.

Following the partially upheld complaint regarding hospital discharge arrangements 
and care provision, clearer guidance was put in place to improve the quality of 
communication between staff members when dealing with similar cases.   The 
Investigating Officer apologised for the advice provided when the family were visiting 
possible care providers, and put measures in place to ensure all staff members 
provide clear information to service users and their families in future.  A new Social 
Worker was also allocated to undertake a complete review and assessment of the 
service user’s needs. 

Timescales

There is no statutory timescale for dealing with Adult Social Care complaints, and the 
timescale is agreed between the Investigator and the complainant in each case.  
However, the aim is to complete investigations within 25 working days. The average 
time taken to deal with Adult Care complaints during the first half of 2017-18 was 
23.68 working days which was within target.  

Complaint Example

The following is an example of a how an Adult Social Care complaint has been dealt 
with from receipt to resolution.

Page 70



4

Appendix 1
Complaint

A letter of complaint was received by the Chief Executive’s office from relatives of a 
service user regarding hospital discharge arrangements and care provision.  The 
complaint was passed to the Assistant Director, Adult Social Care, and allocated to a 
senior manager for investigation.  A letter was sent to the complainants 
acknowledging receipt of their complaint and confirming the details of the 
Investigating Officer.

The Investigating Officer contacted the complainants and arranged to meet with the 
family to discuss and clarify their concerns and desired outcome.  As the complaint 
was complex and required a detailed investigation, a slightly longer timescale was 
agreed with the complainants.

The investigation was undertaken into the issues raised, which included reviewing 
information held on the case file and meeting with Social Workers, the Advanced 
Practitioner and Managers involved with the case.  The investigation was completed 
within the timescale agreed with the complainants, and the complaint was found to be 
partially upheld.  

A full written response was provided to the complainants detailing the findings of the 
investigation and actions taken as a result of the complaint.  

A number of recommendations for service improvement were implemented following 
the investigation, details of which are included under ‘Lessons Learned’ above.

Compliments

Compliments received from service users are also recorded and shared with staff.  A 
total of 48 compliments were recorded for Adult Care Services during this reporting 
period, a breakdown and examples of which can be found below.

Team/Service Area No. Compliment received from
STARS 26 Service User (20)

Relative of Service User (6)
STARS Plus Team 8 Service User (6)

Relative of Service User (2)
Information & Advice Team 4 Service user (3)

Relative of Service User (1)
Assessment & Support Team 4 Service user (2)

Relative of Service User (2)
Home Improvement Agency 3 Service User (2)

Relative of Service User (1)
Occupational Therapy 2 Service User (1)

Relative of Service User (1)
Transfer of Care Team 1 Relative of Service User

“To the 'STAR Girls', words are not enough to express my grateful thanks to all the 
team who came to assist me and got me able to cope again.  You are really 'STARS'.”  
Compliment for STARS Team

Page 71



5

Appendix 1
“I'm writing to say how thrilled we have been with the fantastic service we have 
received from Rochdale Adult Social Care, and in particular from the Care Navigator.
….Although I'm sure she will say she was only doing her job, it was the excellent way 
in which she did that which has prompted me to write.  It's refreshing to actually have 
received an excellent customer service from a Local Authority who often comes in for 
criticism.  Thanks so much, we appreciate the help and time you have spent dealing 
with us.”  Compliment for Information & Advice Team

“Can I just say a big thank you to the guy who fitted my mum’s hand rails yesterday at 
short notice.  He worked really hard, was very tidy and did an excellent job. …  A 
really excellent reactive service, thank you.  It made the difference between mum 
being able to go upstairs to bed or us having to bring the bed downstairs!”  
Compliment for the Home Improvement Agency

“I would like to put a compliment in about a social support worker at Rochdale Adult 
Services…..she has gone above and beyond her job description in trying to help to 
sort out my Mother who is in a care home.”
Compliment for Assessment & Support Team

“Just wanted to say thank you for the kind, caring friendly and professional 
service/support you gave me during the time you worked with me. Wishing you all the 
best.”
Compliment for STARS Plus Team

“I really must say the adult care service I was given by a lovely lady was very helpful. I 
had to email you to say that you should be very proud of this lady, not only is she very 
good at her job, she is very understanding as well.”
Compliment for Occupational Therapist

Page 72



6

Appendix 1
Children’s Social Care

Changes were made to the children’s social services representations procedure as a 
result of the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000, Adoption and Children Act 2002 and 
the Health and Social Care (Community Health and Standards) Act 2003.

Complaints are dealt with in accordance with The Children Act 1989 Representations 
Procedure (England) Regulations 2006. 

The handling and consideration of complaints under this procedure consists of three 
stages: 
Stage 1 - Local Resolution
Stage 2 - Investigation 
Stage 3 - Review Panel 

Local Resolution requires the local authority to resolve a complaint as close to the 
point of contact with the child or young person as possible (i.e. through front line 
management of the service). In doing so the local authority should consider the 
wishes of the complainant about how the complaint should be dealt with. In most 
circumstances complaints should be considered at Stage 1 in the first instance.

Consideration of complaints at Stage 2 is normally achieved through an investigation 
conducted by an investigating officer and an independent person. Stage 2 
commences either when the complainant requests it after an investigation at Stage 1, 
or where the complainant and the local authority have agreed that Stage 1 is not 
appropriate.

Where Stage 2 of the complaints procedure has been concluded and the complainant 
is still dissatisfied, he/she will be eligible to request further consideration of the 
complaint by a Review Panel. It is not possible to review a complaint that has not yet 
been fully considered at Stage 2 (including providing the reports and adjudication to 
the complainant). 

Following the conclusion of all three stages of the complaints process, if the 
complainant remains dissatisfied with the outcome of their complaint they may refer 
their concerns for consideration by the Local Government Ombudsman.
Information relating to Children’s Social Care complaints is available on the Council’s 
website, and leaflets providing full details of the complaints process and how to raise 
concerns are provided as required.  The Children’s Rights Service has also 
developed complaints leaflets specifically for children in care.
Not all complaints received by Children’s Social Care are eligible to be considered 
under the statutory procedure, and where a complaint does not meet the criteria, it will 
be considered under the Council’s Corporate Complaints Procedure.  Details of 
complaints considered under both procedures will be included in this report.  
A total of 17 new complaints were received by Children’s Services in the first half of 
2017-18, all of which were dealt with under the statutory Children’s Social Care 
complaints procedure.  In addition, 1 complaint was considered at stage two, and 2 
complaints were reviewed by an Independent Review Panel at stage three. 

As can be seen from the graphs in appendix 2, the number of complaints relating to 
conduct of staff increased to 6 in the second quarter, however, 4 of the 6 complaints 

Page 73



7

Appendix 1
received were not upheld and the other 2 were partially upheld.  Details of the 
complaints and their outcomes can be found below.

The types of complaints received

8 new complaints were received during the first quarter 

8 new complaints were considered at stage one

1 complaint was upheld:
 1 Assessment and lack of support from Social Worker

5 complaints were partially upheld:
 1 Fostering application process
 1 Actions of Social Worker 
 1 Information held on Social Care file for Looked after Child
 1 Support for young person leaving care
 1 Information provided during investigation of allegation

2 complaints were not upheld 

1 complaint was received at stage two

1 complaint was partially upheld:
 1 Fostering application process

2 complaints were received at stage three

In accordance with the statutory complaints procedure, the complaints were 
considered by an independent review panel. Both complaints related to Children’s 
Social Care involvement in Child Protection processes.  

Following the panel hearings, a report was provided by the Panel Chair and the Local 
Authority response to the complainant was provided by the Director of Children’s 
Services.

9 new complaints were received during the second quarter 

4 complaints were partially upheld:
 1 Adoption placement disruption
 1 Support for Looked After Child re various issues
 1 Comments made during Cared for Child review 
 1 Child Protection process

4 complaints were not upheld

1 complaint is still ongoing.

Examples of Action Taken and Lessons Learned

First Quarter

Page 74



8

Appendix 1
Following the upheld complaint regarding an assessment and lack of support from a 
Social Worker, a number of actions were taken:

- All Social Workers undertook training on assessment and planning.
- Where there are ongoing court proceedings, the Management Team will 

consider whether to arrange for a review of an assessment by a different 
Social Worker to ensure the service is robust in re-examining the evidence.

- The Service will look at how they are assessing risks when concerns are raised 
by a service user.

As a result of the complaint regarding the fostering application process, although the 
majority of points of complaint were not upheld, the service reviewed the information 
provided in information packs to include examples of how allowances and fees are 
calculated to enable enquirers to identify and compare to their own circumstances.

In response to the partially upheld complaint regarding support provided for a young 
person leaving care, a Personal Assistant was appointed to meet with the young 
person together with a manager from the First Response Service.  The purpose of the 
meeting was to discuss the young person’s concerns and identify any additional 
support that could be provided through the leaving care services.
 
Second Quarter

Following the complaint regarding support provided for a Looked After Child, the 
service will support the young person in seeking legal advice to deal with some of the 
difficulties being experienced.  The service will continue to support the young person 
and provide all the advice and guidance that they require.

In response to the complaint regarding comments made during a Cared for Child 
review, an apology was given to the complainant.  The line manager will continue to 
monitor and support the officer concerned in their role and ensure that appropriate 
reflection is undertaken.  

An apology was given in response to the partially upheld complaint regarding the 
Child Protection process.  The majority of points of complaint were found to be not 
upheld, however, the Social Workers involved in the case reflected on how the 
complainant had felt during a home visit and an apology was provided. 

Timescales

There are statutory timescales for dealing with Children’s Social Care complaints at 
each stage of the process.  Every attempt is made to resolve complaints within the 
initial timescale; however, the regulations allow the timescale for each stage to be 
extended in consultation with the complainant.

Stage 1 10 working days (can be extended to up to a maximum of 20 working 
days)

Stage 2 25 working days (can be extended up to a maximum of 65 working 
days)

Stage 3 Acknowledgement within 2 working days, review to be held within 30 
working days.

Page 75



9

Appendix 1
All 17 of the complaints received during the first and second quarters were dealt with 
under the statutory Social Care complaints procedure at stage one, 13 of which were 
responded to within the statutory timescale.  

Complaint Example

The following is an example of a how a Children’s Social Care complaint has been 
dealt with from receipt to resolution.

Stage one complaint

A complaint was received by telephone directly to the service which related to an 
assessment and lack of support from a Social Worker.  The complaint was allocated 
to a senior manager for investigation and recorded with the Customer Feedback 
Team who sent a formal acknowledgement to the complainant confirming the 
timescale for response.

A meeting was arranged with the Investigating Officer, the Practice Manager and the 
complainant to discuss the points of concern and desired outcome from the 
complaint.  A full investigation was undertaken, and the complainant was provided 
with a written response detailing the findings and recommendations.  The complainant 
was invited to contact the Investigating Officer if they wished to discuss the outcome 
of the investigation or arrange a further meeting to discuss the findings in person.

The complainant advised that they did not feel that the response addressed all of the 
issues raised, and a further meeting was arranged.   The outstanding concerns were 
discussed, and a second response was provided.

A number of recommendations were made following the outcome of the complaint, 
details of which are included under the ‘Lessons Learned’ section above.

Compliments

Compliments received from service users are also recorded and shared with staff.  15 
compliments were recorded for Children’s Social Care Services during the first half of 
2017-18, a breakdown and examples of which can be found below.

“The foster carers spoke extremely positively about their Supervising Social Worker.  
They stated that they have had a number of social workers over the 15 years they 
have been foster carers, and worked with many more in respect of the children they 
have fostered. They described her as a remarkable social worker.  They said that she 

Team/Service Area No. Compliment received from
Safeguarding Unit 5 Professional (4)

Relative of young person (1)
Fostering Team 4 Foster Carers (3)

Member of the public (1)
Cared for Children 2 Professional (1)

Young person (1)
Additional Needs Service 2 Parent (2)
Commissioning Team 1 Professional
First Response Team 1 Professional

Page 76



10

Appendix 1
challenges when needed, is straight talking but is supportive.  They felt they had a 
very good relationship with her (professionally) and felt part of the ‘team’ around the 
child with her support.  They said she was fantastic and excelled in her role as their 
Supervising Social Worker.”
Compliment for Fostering Team

“My achievements wouldn't have been possible if not for your undivided and 
continued support, so thank you.  My graduation was amazing, very much so worth 
the wait! It was over in a flash though.  You're a true asset to Rochdale and may any 
child be fortunate enough to be in your care.”
Compliment from young person for Cared for Children Team

“Both the solicitor and the guardian have asked me to pass on their high praise for the 
quality of work you produced. The solicitor for the guardian indicated that they were 
both impressed with your report and also your very thorough and detailed preparation 
for the hearing where you were expecting that she might have to give evidence.  I am 
also informed that the Judge specifically expressed his gratitude for the work that you 
have done. The Judge described this as being monumental and that this work would 
stand the children in good stead for the rest of their lives.
Compliment for First Response Team

“I would like to recognise the time and effort you make in advocating on behalf of 
children and families and bringing appropriate challenge and scrutiny for the benefit of 
the children and young people we review.”
Compliment for Safeguarding Team  

“As foster carers you need someone in your corner to help you do your job properly 
and effectively, the Social Worker has done this by allowing us to grow into our roles 
at a pace that was right for us. Never once has she put pressure on us to do things 
that are out of our comfort zone, when people say that they have a guardian Angel 
that looks over them I used to think what a crock of tripe, but I have changed my 
opinion on this because of her, she is always there when we need her, she responds 
in a way we haven't seen before…. I am sure all your team are as good, but I just 
wanted to write to you to say thank you for giving us such a conscientious and 
hardworking social worker …. She is simply amazing and a massive credit to your 
team.”
Compliment for Fostering Team

“Just a very quick email to express my compliments regarding a member of your team 
who attended the transfer meeting today.   She was an extremely understanding and 
caring person while always remaining professional and person centred. She also had 
a good knowledge of relevant agencies which can help with certain needs which in 
turn will aid our child in the transition to secondary school. I feel she is an absolute 
credit to the team.  I would like to take this opportunity to thank her for today and hope 
to meet her again at the next review meeting.”
Compliment for Children with Additional Needs Team

Page 77



Appendix 2

1

P
age 78



Appendix 2

2

P
age 79



Appendix 2

3

P
age 80



Appendix 2

4

P
age 81



Appendix 2

5

P
age 82



Appendix 2

6

P
age 83


	Agenda
	5 Minutes
	6 Link4Life Mid Year Review 2017/18
	Append. 1 for Link4Life Mid Year Review 17-18
	Append. 2 for Link4Life Mid Year Review 17-18
	Append. 3 for Link4Life Mid Year Review 17-18

	8 Adoption Annual Report 2016/17
	Appendix 1 Annual Report on Activity 2016-2017

	9 Adult, Children & Public Health Directorate Plans 2017/18 Quarter 3 Performance Update
	Append. 1 for Adult, Children & Public Health Directorate Plans 2017-18 Quarter 3 Performance Update
	Append. 2 for Adult, Children & Public Health Directorate Plans 2017-18 Quarter 3 Performance Update
	Append. 3 for Adult, Children & Public Health Directorate Plans 2017-18 Quarter 3 Performance Update

	10 Social Care Complaints
	Append. 1 for 1st & 2nd Quarter Social Care Complaints
	Append. 2 for 1st & 2nd Quarter Social Care Complaints


